From THE DEPARTMENT OF NEUROSCIENCE Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

OXIDATIVE STRESS IN EXPERIMENTAL TRAUMATIC BRAIN INJURY

Mattias Günther M.D.



Stockholm 2015

Cover image illustrates COX-2 positive cytosols stained in green and nuclei stained in blue, in a male rat brain after traumatic brain injury.

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher. Published by Karolinska Institutet. Printed by E-print AB © Mattias Günther, 2015 ISBN 978-91-7549-903-1

OXIDATIVE STRESS IN EXPERIMENTAL TRAUMATIC BRAIN INJURY

THESIS FOR DOCTORAL DEGREE (Ph.D.)

Public defense in Petrénsalen, Nobels väg 12B, Solna

Friday June 12, 2015 at 09.00

by

Mattias Günther

Principal Supervisor: Prof. Tiit Mathiesen Karolinska Institutet Department of Clinical Neuroscience Division of Neurosurgery

Co-supervisors: Prof. Mårten Risling Karolinska Institutet Department of Neuroscience Division of Experimental Traumatology

Dr. Caroline Gahm Karolinska Institutet Department of CLINTEC Division of ENT

Dr. Stefan Plantman Karolinska Institutet Department of Neuroscience Division of Experimental Traumatology *Opponent:* Associate Prof. Jonathan Lifshitz University of Arizona Department of Child health Division of Translational Neurotrauma Research

Examination Board: Prof. Lars-Owe Koskinen Umeå University Department of Pharm & Clinical Neuroscience Division of Neurosurgery

Associate Prof. Cesare Patrone Karolinska Institutet Department of Clinical Science and Education Division of Stroke, Neurodegener. & Diabetes

Prof. Marianne Schultzberg Karolinska Institutet Department of Neurobiology Division of Neurodegeneration

ABSTRACT

Traumatic brain injury (TBI) is a leading cause of death and disability among the young population in the industrialized world. The injury consists of immediate damage to the brain tissue, followed by a secondary response involving inflammation and oxidative stress. No pharmacological treatment is effective and the physical and inflammatory mechanisms are insufficiently understood. Considerable variability exists in the clinical outcome after TBI. Genetic factors have been implicated to affect the posttraumatic inflammatory response. This study was undertaken to explore a possible impact of genetic polymorphism in oxidative stress reactions after experimental TBI, and to determine possible effects of direct physical forces on inflammatory cell activation. TBI was induced using mild focal and penetrating focal brain injury models, in inbred and outbred rat strains and male and female rats. Genetic susceptibility to inflammation in the central nervous system (CNS) was found to be associated to the redox active enzymes iNOS and MnSOD in inflammatory cells, but was not associated with increased neuronal degeneration at 24h. The genetic regulation of oxidative stress vulnerability was corroborated in primary neuronal cultures, where neurons primed in an environment of high susceptibility to inflammatory activity had increased compensatory antioxidative enzymes MnSOD and PRDX5, leading to reduced lipid peroxidation, nitrosylation and degeneration. Humoral stimulation was necessary for iNOS induction in neurons. Gender also affected the inflammatory response. The inflammatory enzyme COX-2 was increased in males compared to females at 24h and 72h and correlated with increased apoptosis at 24h in males, but not neuronal degeneration, astrogliosis, microgliosis or nitrosylation. Direct physical force by shock wave trauma caused an inflammatory activation in two different macrophage cell lines, which did not include iNOS or NO increase. Energy transfer by trauma activated the macrophages directly without humoral mediators, comprising a novel activation mechanism of macrophages. Posttraumatic treatment with the antioxidative compound N-acetylcysteine amide reduced neuronal degeneration, increased MnSOD at 24h and reduced apoptosis at 2h. Levels of migrating macrophages/activated microglia, iNOS, nitrosylation or NFkB were not affected. In summary, our findings demonstrated that genetic factors regulated oxidative stress related inflammation after TBI, macrophages were activated by direct physical forces and an antioxidative drug provided neuroprotection after TBI. Susceptibility to CNS inflammation and oxidative stress are interrelated and should be considered when evaluating novel antioxidative treatments.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

- I. **Mattias Günther**, Faiez Al Nimer, Caroline Gahm, Fredrik Piehl, Tiit Mathiesen. iNOSmediated secondary inflammatory response differs between rat strains following experimental brain contusion. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2012 Apr;154(4):689-97
- II. **Mattias Günther**, Faiez Al Nimer, Fredrik Piehl, Stefan Plantman, Mårten Risling and Tiit Mathiesen. Neuronal vulnerability to oxidative stress is affected by genetic polymorphism and related to susceptibility to inflammation in the central nervous system. Submitted.
- III. Mattias Günther, Stefan Plantman, Johan Davidsson, Maria Angéria, Tiit Mathiesen, Mårten Risling. COX-2 regulation and TUNEL-positive cell death differ between genders in the secondary inflammatory response following experimental penetrating focal brain injury in rats. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2015 Apr;157(4):649-59
- IV. Mattias Günther, Stefan Plantman, Caroline Gahm, Anders Sondén, Mårten Risling, Tiit Mathiesen. Shock wave trauma leads to inflammatory response and morphological activation in macrophage cell lines, but does not induce iNOS or NO synthesis. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2014 Dec;156(12):2365-78
- V. Mattias Günther, Johan Davidsson, Stefan Plantman, Svante Norgren, Tiit Mathiesen, Mårten Risling. Neuroprotective Effects of N-acetylcysteine Amide on Experimental Focal Penetrating Brain Injury in rats. Accepted J Clinical Neuroscience, 2015, March 3

CONTENTS

1	Introduction								
	1.1	Oxidative stress after TBI							
	1.2	Genetic	polymorphism after TBI	5					
	1.3	Gender	influence after TBI	5					
	1.4	Treatment of TBI							
		1.4.1	Surgery	7					
		1.4.2	Neurocritical care	7					
		1.4.3	Pharmacotherapy	8					
2	Aims	of the the	psis	10					
3	Materials and Methods								
	3.1	Ethical permits							
	3.2	Rats							
	3.3	Cell cultures							
		3.3.1	Immortalized cell lines	11					
		3.3.2	Primary neuronal cultures	11					
	3.4	Trauma	models	12					
		3.4.1	Experimental traumatic brain contusion	12					
		3.4.2	Focal penetrating traumatic brain injury	13					
		3.4.3	Flyer Plate	14					
	3.5	Pharma	cological intervention	15					
		3.5.1	LPS/IFN-y induction	15					
		3.5.2	Oxidative stress induction	15					
		3.5.3	<i>N</i> -acetylcysteine amide	15					
	3.6	Assays							
		3.6.1	Rat brain sections	15					
		3.6.2	Immunohistochemistry	16					
		3.6.3	Immunofluorescence	16					
		3.6.4	Fluoro Jade	16					
		3.6.5	TUNEL	16					
		3.6.6	In situ hybridization	16					
		3.6.7	Western blot	17					
		3.6.8	In Cell Western	17					
		3.6.9	Lactate dehydrogenase assay	17					
		3.6.10	CellROX oxidative stress detection	18					
		3.6.11	Gene array analysis	18					
		3.6.12	Cell-IQ	19					
		3.6.13	Griess nitrite assay	19					
	3.7	Quantif	ication	19					
		3.7.1	Immunohistochemistry	19					
		3.7.2	In Situ hybridization	20					
		3.7.3	Western blot	20					
		3.7.4	In cell western	21					
	3.8	Statistic	al analyses	21					
4	Results and Comments								
	4.1 Genetic polymorphism after TBI								
		4.1.1	In whole rat brains (I)	23					
		4.1.2	In isolated neuronal cultures (II)	24					
		4.1.3	Gender influence on inflammation (III).	27					

	4.2 Inflammatory cell activation by traumatic forces (IV)	
	4.3 Neuroprotection by an antioxidative substance (V)	
5	General Discussion	
6	Conclusions	
7	Acknowledgements	
8	References	

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

3-NT	3-Nitrotyrosine
4-HNE	4-Hydroxynonenal
Bcl-2	B-cell lymphoma 2
CNS	Central nervous system
COX-2	Cyclooxygenase 2
DA	Dark Agouti
eNOS	Endothelial nitric oxide synthase
GST	Glutathione S-transferase
H_2O_2	Hydrogen peroxide
ICP	Intracerebral pressure
IFN	Interferon
IL	Interleukin
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide synthase
LDH	Lactate dehydrogenase
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MnSOD	Manganese superoxide dismutase
NAC	N-acetylcysteine
NACA	N-acetylcysteine amide
NFkB	Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
NMDA	N-Methyl-D-aspartate
nNOS	Neuronal nitric oxide synthase
NO	Nitric oxide
NOX2	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase
O_2^-	Superoxide
ONOO ⁻	Peroxynitrite
PGE ₂	Prostaglandin E2
PRDX5	Peroxiredoxin 5
PVG	Piebald Virol Glaxo
ROI	Region of interest
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
TBI	Traumatic brain injury
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor beta
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
TUNEL	Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling
VCAM-1	Vascular cell adhesion protein 1
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

1 INTRODUCTION

The earliest available medical document, the Edwin Smith Surgical Papyrus (c. 26th century BC), describes several neurological disorders following wartime head injuries. Traumatic brain injury (TBI) is thus among the earliest described illnesses in the history of man (Aminoff et al. 2015). TBI is today a leading cause of disability and death among young people (Injury 1999). Despite vast improvements in general healthcare during the last century, modern healthcare still has no effective pharmacological treatment (Diaz-Arrastia et al. 2014). Outcome largely reflects the natural course of the disease.

Acute TBI is characterized by two injury phases, the primary and the secondary. The primary injury phase signifies the direct injury to the brain cells at the time of the initial impact. The secondary phase includes a neuroinflammatory response which involves blood-brain barrier damage and starts immediately after and may persist for months. It is characterized by activation of resident cells astrocytes and microglia, migration of leucocytes and phagocytes from the blood into the brain, and the production of cytokines and chemokines (Morganti-Kossmann et al. 2007) (Lenzlinger et al. 2001). This secondary inflammatory response has both detrimental and beneficial effects (Morganti-Kossmann et al. 2002). The magnitude and duration affects clinical outcome, in short term by promoting neuronal death, edema and pyrexia, and in the long term by influencing repair processes (Kadhim et al. 2008).

1.1 OXIDATIVE STRESS AFTER TBI

Within minutes of the initial trauma, oxidative stress occurs by the overproduction of reactive oxygen species (ROS) which overwhelm the antioxidative response (Woodcock and Morganti-Kossmann 2013) (Bains and Hall 2011). ROS reacts with proteins, lipids, carbohydrates and nucleic acids, ultimately leading to irreversible cellular damage.

Nitric oxide (NO) is an unstable diatomic radical and a key mediator in the oxidative process (Schouten 2007) (Wada et al. 1998). In low concentrations, NO controls physiological reactions such as immune cell-mediated cytotoxicity, cytostasis, regulation of vascular tone, relaxation, inhibition of platelet aggregation and neurotransmission. NO is lipophilic and diffuses freely through membranes which is why its activity is not restricted to the site of production, and the half life depends on the availability of intracellular reactants (Trackey et al. 2001). In high concentrations, NO together with superoxide (O_2^-) forms peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻) at a diffusion limited rate.

Peroxynitrite is a main cause of NO mediated toxicity, and although not a free radical, a relatively stable and highly diffusible powerful oxidant (Floyd 1999) (Lu et al. 2009) (Beckman et al. 1990) (Szabo et al. 2007) (Lambert and Brand 2009). Peroxynitrite oxidizes proteins, induces membrane lipid peroxidation and inhibits mitochondrial electron transport, leading to rapid, necrotic cell death (Floyd 1999) (Lu et al. 2009). Elevation of peroxynitrite occurs within the first hour of TBI and lasts for days (Wada et al. 1998) (Hall et al. 2004) (Bayir et al. 2005) (Deng et al. 2007). Peroxynitrite is difficult to detect which is why the stabile surrogate measure 3-Nitrothyrosine (3-NT), derived from NO₂ nitration of tyrosine residues in proteins is often used as a stabile surrogate measure (Beckman et al. 1990).



Figure 1 - Schematic overview of main oxidative reaction routes after TBI studied in the thesis. Nitric Oxide is produced in dormant conditions by eNOS and nNOS and accounts for a variety of physiological reactions. iNOS is induced in inflammation and accounts for a surge of NO. NO is freely diffusible across cell membranes and organelles, and reacts with superoxide at a diffusion limited rate, at the site of superoxide formation. Superoxide is not freely diffusible, and mainly produced as a byproduct of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation. NO and superoxide forms peroxynitrite, a highly reactive free radical which reacts with carbon dioxide to create deleterious reaction products. This leads to mitochondrial damage, DNA damage, lipid peroxidation and protein nitration, all damaging the cell, ultimately leading to necrotic or apoptotic cell death. A number of antioxidative systems are in place to protect the cell. MnSOD dismutates superoxide to hydrogen peroxide which is then converted to oxygen and water by antioxidative enzymes such as glutathione, catalase and peroxiredoxins. Hydrogen peroxide may also react with iron in a fenton reaction to create the deleterious hydroxyl radical, damaging the cell. Peroxynitrite is scavenged by several enzymes. Peroxiredoxin 5, thioredoxins and glutathione convert peroxynitrite to nitrite, which is then converted to nitrate, an inert molecule. The redox system was manipulated by the addition of NO (DETA NO), superoxide (DMNQ), peroxynitrite (SIN-1) and 4-HNE. The overview is not comprehensive but enhances the main reaction routes studied and manipulated in the current thesis.

Superoxide is formed by the acceptance of an electron from dioxygen, resulting in a highly reactive radical (Rigoulet et al. 2011). Superoxide does not cross membranes; peroxynitrite formation occurs primarily depending on superoxide availability (Szabo et al. 2007). Superoxide is mainly produced by NADPH oxidases and as a byproduct from mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation, why powerful protective enzymatic systems are needed to eliminate superoxide and ensure cell survival. Elevated levels of superoxide are found after TBI in cats (Kontos and Wei 1986).



Figure 2 - Natural antioxidants separated in classes. Modified from Carocho et al. Exogenous antioxidants are stated in italic. Enzymes studied belong to primary enzymes.

The antioxidant system of the cell is divided into two major groups. Enzymatic oxidants prevent the formation of or neutralize free radicals and are divided into primary and secondary enzymes. The major primary enzymes SOD, catalase, glutathione peroxide and thioredoxins maintain cell survival in physiological conditions. In an inflammatory milieu, antioxidative enzymes are elevated to meet an increased reductive demand. The secondary enzymatic defense includes glutathione reductase which reduces glutathione from its oxidized to its reduced form. The secondary enzymes do not neutralize free radicals directly, but have supporting roles to the other endogenous antioxidants (Carocho and Ferreira 2013). Despite the efficiency of the enzymatic systems, the organism still depends on dietary antioxidants for efficient free radical detoxification. These include Vitamins A, C, E, K, and may be important to for supplementation in the posttraumatic inflammation (Pietta 2000).

After TBI, manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD), peroxiredoxin 5 (PRDX5), glutathione peroxidase and selenium containing amino acids account for the oxidative defense (Arteel et al. 1999) (Szabo et al. 2007) (Fukai and Ushio-Fukai 2011). MnSOD is important in the first line defense against superoxide generated in mitochondria, converting superoxide to hydrogen peroxide at a diffusion limited rate (Flynn and Melov 2013). Over-expression of MnSOD causes reduced lipid peroxidation, protein nitration and neuronal death after experimental TBI (Keller et al. 1998) and MnSOD deficient mice die at an early stage (Li et al. 1995) (Lebovitz et al. 1996). Superoxide reacts with NO three times faster than with MnSOD, leading to the irreversible formation of peroxynitrite if superoxide levels exceed the MnSOD activity (Faraci 2006). MnSOD is induced in neurons and activated microglia after TBI by increased superoxide formation, decreasing oxidative stress (Noack et al. 1998) (Keller et al. 1998).

Peroxiredoxins are present in all organisms, and mammalian cells express six isoforms. The enzymes are abundant and protect the cell by removing low levels of peroxides produced by normal metabolism. PRDX5 reduces peroxynitrite with a high rate constant of $7x10^7 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{s}^{-1}$, and is therefore important to decrease the toxic impact of excessive formation of peroxynitrite (Dubuisson et al. 2004) (Rhee et al. 2005). PRDX5 lowers nitro-oxidative stress and cell death (Szabo et al. 2007), and PRDX5 gene silencing makes cells more vulnerable (Knoops et al. 2011). While glutathione also reduces peroxynitrite, it occurs with a lower rate constant of $8x10^6 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{s}^{-1}$ (Briviba et al. 1998) (Sies et al. 1997), and glutathione does not react sufficiently fast with peroxynitrite in vivo. Glutathione primarily inhibits peroxynitrite dependent processes by reactions with secondary radicals (Carballal et al. 2014).

NO is formed by three NO synthases. Endothelial (eNOS) and neuronal (nNOS) isoforms are calcium dependent and endogenously expressed in the brain, while the inducible (iNOS) isoform is expressed primarily in macrophages, microglia, infiltrating neutrophils and neurons. Independent of calcium, iNOS increases following TBI and has been regarded as primarily detrimental (Deng et al. 2007). iNOS is induced by the transcription factors NFkB, STAT-1, IRF-1 and AP-1 and thus highly regulated by inflammation (Miljkovic and Trajkovic 2004) (O'Connell and Littleton-Kearney 2013). Inhibition of iNOS has resulted either in decreased lesion volumes and improved sensorimotor-outcomes, (Wada et al. 1998) (Gahm et al. 2000) (Gahm et al. 2006) but also worse functional outcome and increased mortality (Sinz et al. 1999) (Hlatky et al. 2003) (Jafarian-Tehrani et al. 2005) (Lu et al. 2009).

The concentrations and kinetics of NO, superoxide and peroxynitrite are essential for cell signaling, metabolism, and the commitment of the cell to survival or death (Dranka et al. 2010). Antioxidant treatment ameliorates these effects and provides neuroprotection in experimental models, thus confirming a deleterious effect of the oxidative cascade after TBI (Bains and Hall 2011).

1.2 GENETIC POLYMORPHISM AFTER TBI

Considerable variability exists in the clinical outcome after TBI, which is only partially explained by known factors. Accumulating evidence implicates genetic elements in the pathophysiology of brain trauma in humans (Dardiotis et al. 2010), and several genes influence outcome (Jordan 2007). The natural heterogeneity of humans suffering from TBI makes studies of genetic impact on outcome and possible intervention challenging, but inbred rodent strains react reproducibly regarding inflammation in the central nervous system (CNS), thus providing an investigative platform (Reid et al. 2010) (Dardiotis et al. 2010) (Maas et al. 2010) (McAllister 2010). The rat strain Dark Agouti (DA) has high susceptibility while Piebald Virol Glaxo (PVG) is reported to be protected from effects of TBI, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, nerve axotomy and spinal cord injury (Al Nimer et al. 2011) (Bellander et al. 2010) (Dominguez et al. 2012) (Lidman et al. 2003) (Braden 1958) (Wilson 1965) (Lorentzen et al. 1997) (Weissert et al. 1998) (Lundberg et al. 2001). These differences are likely to be a combined effect of a number of genetic variations rather than a few spontaneous mutations.

DA and PVG strains have fundamentally different inflammatory responses after TBI. DA expresses higher levels of macrophages (Bellander et al. 2010), granulocytes, natural killer cells and microglia compared to PVG (Al Nimer et al. 2013a). DA also has a higher activation of the complement system factors C3, C1q and CD11b, but not CD55 and CD59 (Bellander et al. 2010) (Al Nimer et al. 2013a). Both inflammatory cells and complement activation are linked to increased oxidative stress. Activated microglia is the main endogenous source of ROS in several major CNS disorders (Block et al. 2007). C3-/- mice had smaller infarct volumes, improved neurological deficits, reduced granulocyte infiltration and oxidative stress after brain ischemia than wild type mice (Mocco et al. 2006). C1q -/- mice neurons had less oxidative stress after hypoxia/ischemia compared to wild type (Ten et al. 2010). Most of the genetic polymorphisms that have been identified regulate disease susceptibility affect immune related molecules and pathways (Al Nimer et al. 2013a). However, genetic influence on oxidative stress is insufficiently elucidated and conflicting results in TBI research may partly be related to unknown genetic variability (Teasdale et al. 1997) (Popovich et al. 1997) (Steward et al. 1999) (Friedman et al. 1999) (Inman et al. 2002).

1.3 GENDER INFLUENCE AFTER TBI

In experimental TBI, females are more resistant to TBI than males (McCullough and Hurn 2003) (Roof and Hall 2000). In humans, epidemiological studies show contradictory results on gender associated morbidity. Female gender correlated with reduced mortality and lower complication rates after TBI in some studies (Ley et al. 2013) (Groswasser et al. 1998) (Berry et al. 2009), while others found no gender association (Renner et al. 2012) (Leitgeb et al. 2011), or even

higher mortality in in females (Farace and Alves 2000) (Ottochian et al. 2009). The reasons for the relative protection of females in animal models are unclear. In a brain ischemia-reperfusion model, male mice showed increased levels of proinflammatory enzymes COX-2, NOX2 and VCAM-1 compared to females (Brait et al. 2010), possibly related to female sex hormones. Progesterone inhibits COX-2, PGE₂ and TNF α expression in male rats after TBI (Si et al. 2014). Edema formation and intracranial pressure after TBI vary according to the estrus cycle (Maghool et al. 2012). Progesterone reduces lipid peroxidation and suppresses neuronal hyperexcitability, leading to membrane stabilization (Roof and Hall 2000). Further knowledge of underlying mechanisms for different inflammatory traits is therefore warranted.

Marker	Time	DA	PVG	Reference
Ox-42 (macrophages)	7h	up	down	Bellander 2010
w3/13 (leucocytes)	3h	down	up	
ED-1 (microglia/macrophages)	7-13h	same	same	
C3 (complement system)	7h	up	down	
Fluoro Jade	30d	up	down	
Granulocytes	24h	up	down	Al Nimer 2012
leucocytes	1-6d	same	same	
T-cells	1-6d	same	same	
NK cells	1-6d	up	down	
Macrophages	6d	up	down	
Microglia	1-6d	up	down	
Lymphocytes	1-6d	same	same	
C1q (complement system)	6d	up	down	
CD55 (complement system)	6d	same	same	
CD59 (complement system)	6d	same	same	
CSF-NFL (neurofilament light)	1-6d	up	down	
GFAP (glia cells, gliosis)	6d	same	same	Al Nimer 2010
CD11b (complement system)	6d	up	down	
Gsta4	1d	down	up	Al Nimer 2012
Neuronal survival	30d	down	up	
iNOS	24h	down	up	Günther 2011
eNOS	24h	same	same	
nNOS	24h	same	same	
w3/13 (leucocytes)	24h	same	same	
MnSOD	24h	down	up	
3-NT	24h	same	same	
Fluoro Jade	24h	same	same	

Figure 3 – Inflammatory responses by DA and PVG rats after trauma to the CNS. DA is susceptible to CNS inflammation and DA is reported to be protected. The strains display fundamentally different response patterns in CNS inflammation. A higher response than the other strain is termed "up" while a lower response is termed "down". All quantifications are made in the CNS after trauma.

1.4 TREATMENT OF TBI

No pharmacological treatment that specifically targets the CNS has led to better neurological outcomes in phase III clinical trials (Diaz-Arrastia et al. 2014). The most important barrier to finding effective therapeutic interventions includes insufficient understanding of fundamental pathophysiological reactions in the brain. Confounding factors such as genetic polymorphisms and gender are not sufficiently appreciated and complicate clinical trials. The heterogeneity of TBI ranges from mild concussion to severe penetrating brain injury and it is likely that different trauma mechanisms comprise different pathophysiology and varying inflammatory activation, requiring specific treatment (Saatman et al. 2008) (Marklund et al. 2006). Treatment of TBI today comprises surgery combined with neurocritical care to treat mass effects and intracerebral pressure (ICP) and to prevent secondary insults. However, there is no pharmacological intervention to ameliorate the secondary processes or attenuate CNS inflammation.

1.4.1 Surgery

Surgical management of TBI depends on the underlying pathology. Operative indications include acute subdural hematomas, chronic subdural hematomas, epidural hematomas and intraparenchymal lesions (contusions and hematomas) (Feinberg et al. 2015). Standard techniques include craniotomy for evacuation of mass lesions and decompressive craniectomy for reducing ICP due to diffuse cerebral swelling. Early surgical intervention, when indicated, is effective to reduce ICP and improve survival and neurological outcomes (Foundation 2007). If elevated, the primary goal of surgery is to reduce ICP to levels <20 mm Hg (Feinberg et al. 2015). However, the surgical intervention does not directly affect neuroinflammatory events. Medical interventions to lower ICP and lower diffuse swelling would therefore decrease the need for surgical interventions in some TBI cases (Feinberg et al. 2015).

1.4.2 Neurocritical care

Advances in neurocritical management of TBI have reduced mortality by nearly half since the 1970s (Feinberg et al. 2015). The primary aim is to limit the secondary injury and to avoid secondary insults to the brain. Secondary insults include fever, seziures, hypoxia, coagulopathy, hyperglycemia, endocrine derangements, vasospasm, nutritional derangements and paroxysmal sympathetic hyperactivity (Sheriff and Hinson 2015). The inflammatory response resulting from acute TBI is not limited to the brain. Multiple organ dysfunction syndromes are commonly seen, triggered by catecholamines, neurokinins, cytokines, growth factors, and chemokines (Ghirnikar et al. 1998). Oxidative stress is a major cause of morbidity and mortality in critically ill patients

(Hanafy and Selim 2012). It is likely that oxidative stress also affects the brain, as a result of the direct impact and as part of the global critical illness. The levels of nutrients with antioxidative properties are decreased in neurological critical illness. Patients with intracerebral hematomas have decreased plasma levels of vitamin C (Polidori et al. 2001), and low endogenous stores on antioxidant nutrients are associated with increased free radical generation (Hanafy and Selim 2012). The restoration of endogenous antioxidants combined with administration of oxidative stress reducing compounds is therefore a likely component of future TBI care. The implementation of antioxidant-therapy in neurocritical care needs multiple considerations. The lack of blood brain barrier penetration, suboptimal drug dosages, poor target specificity, low bioavailability at desired sites and a narrow therapeutic time windows remain unsolved challenges (Hanafy and Selim 2012). The monitoring of oxidative stress in the CNS would also be crucial. Experimental methods to study include microdialysis to measure free radicals and oxidative stress in interstitial brain fluid (Clausen et al. 2012) and MRI evaluation of oxidative stress by measuring the pro-oxidant ferric form of hemoglobin on T1-weighted imaging (Leung and Moody 2010).

1.4.3 Pharmacotherapy

Pharmacotherapy for TBI is a highly prioritized research field. The U.S. department of defense alone currently funds more than 500 projects. Critical areas to be addressed involve the standardization of pre-clinical models of TBI, identification of predictive biomarkers, pharmacotherapy aimed at neurorepair, regeneration and protection, and combination therapies for multiple injury mechanisms. So far, all clinical trials in TBI treatment have failed, but more than 50 pharmacotherapies are currently undergoing phase II or III evaluations. The efficacy of neuroprotective drugs relates to the study cohort and study size. Nimodipine, a calcium channel blocker in clinical use for preventing vasospasm after subarachnoid bleedings, significantly reduced unfavorable outcome (death, vegetative survival, or severe disability) at 6 months (Harders et al. 1996) This was later disputed in a systematic review (Vergouwen et al. 2006), and considerable uncertainty still remains over its effect (Langham et al. 2003).

The US department of defense neurotrauma pharmacology workgroup has selected a few leading drug candidates based on mechanism of action, pre-clinical evidence in TBI and other related models and clinical development to date. These include Amantadine, Cyklosporine A, Donepezil, Erythropoetin, FK-506, Glyburide, Growth hormone, Huperzine A, Lithium, Methylphenidate, Minocycline, NAC, Rivastigmine and Simvastatin (Diaz-Arrastia et al. 2014). The pharmacological candidates have a range of targets, including apoptosis, excitatory amino acids, inflammation, free radical production, hyperdepolarization and effect of altered levels of Ca²⁺ (Marklund et al. 2006).

With increasing knowledge of oxidative stress, antioxidative therapies are again gaining interest. Several antioxidants, including N-acetylcysteine (NAC), lipoic acid, tocopherol, probucol, Tirilazad and Coenzyme Q10 have been evaluated in TBI but failed to produce lasting effects (Sunitha et al. 2013). Drug administration to the brain requires crossing the blood brain barrier which is a recurring problem in CNS pharmacotherapy. The well-known antioxidative compound, NAC, with neuroprotective effects in experimental TBI and brain/spinal cord ischemia (Hicdonmez et al. 2006), has a limited CNS bioavailability of 6-10% (Sunitha et al. 2013). Drugs with increased blood brain barrier penetrance would have a higher potential to be effective treatments. *N*-acetylcysteine amide (NACA) is a drug designed to overcome CNS penetrance deficits. Novel drugs need to show robust neuroprotection in experimental TBI and a pharmacological mechanism of action in the CNS that needs to be established before clinical testing. Thorough preclinical trials lower the risk of failure in clinical trials.

2 AIMS OF THE THESIS

- I. To study the impact of genetic polymorphism on NOS isoenzyme expression, antioxidative enzyme MnSOD and markers of protein nitrosylation following experimental brain contusion in the rat.
- II. To investigate the impact of genetic polymorphism on oxidative stress in isolated rat neurons by measuring iNOS expression, antioxidative enzymes MnSOD, PRDX5 and markers of protein nitrosylation, lipid peroxidation and neuronal degeneration.
- III. To study the gender influence on the posttraumatic inflammation by measuring COX-2, iNOS, markers of nitrosylation, astrogliosis, microgliosis, apoptosis and neuronal degeneration following experimental brain contusion in the rat.
- IV. To investigate whether shock wave trauma caused inflammatory activation and iNOS induction in rodent macrophage cell lines.
- V. To investigate the neuroprotective capacity of *N*-acetylcysteine amide by analysis of neuronal degeneration, apoptosis, iNOS expression and markers of inflammation and oxidative stress, following experimental focal penetrating brain injury in the rat.

3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 ETHICAL PERMITS

All animal experiments were approved by the Swedish ethics committee in Stockholm. Article I: N307/06, Article II: N176/12, Article III: N255/09 and N81/13, Article IV: N/A, Article V: N530/11.

3.2 RATS

The DA strain was originally obtained from Medizinische Hochschule, Hannover, Germany. The PVG and Sprague Dawley strains were obtained from Harlan UK Ltd and NOVA-SCB. All animals were bred in an in-house breeding facility in polystyrene cages containing aspen wood shavings with 12h light/dark cycles and fed standard rodent chow and water ad libitum.

3.3 CELL CULTURES

3.3.1 Immortalized cell lines

Cell lines were grown and sub-cultured in T-25 and T-75 flasks (Nunc). NR8383 macrophages (rat) were grown in F-12K medium with 15% FBS and RAW264.7 macrophages (mouse) were grown in DMEM with 10% FBS. All serum was heat inactivated. The cells were harvested and re-suspended on glass cover slips with a 13 mm diameter and 2 mm thickness (Labora Chemicon), coated with Poly-D-lysine (Sigma-Aldrich), and placed in Nunclon 24-well plates (Nunc).

3.3.2 Primary neuronal cultures

Female DA and PVG rats were simultaneously pared with respective males for 72h. Pregnant rats were sacrificed by CO_2 18 days later, ensuring an embryonic post gestation age between E18-E21. Hippocampal neuronal cultures from DA and PVG were prepared simultaneously by dissecting the embryonic hippocampi before dissociation by trypsin (Life Technologies) in 37° C for 15 min followed by mechanical dissociation by a Pasteur pipette. The cell concentration was determined in the suspension by Countess automated cell counter (Life Technologies) and cells were seeded at $3x10^5$ cells/well and placed in Nunclon 24- or 48-well plates (Thermo Scientific), coated with Poly-L-Lysine (Sigma-Aldrich). The cells were kept in Neurobasal medium

supplemented with B-27, L-Glutamine 200 mM and gentamicin 15 μ g/ml (Life Technologies). The B-27 supplement contained antioxidants Vit E, Vit E acetate, SOD, Catalase and Glutathione. The neuronal-glial ratio was >98% determined by immunofluorescence double staining with NeuN and GFAP.



Figure 4 – left: double staining immunofluorescence with NeuN (neurons) and GFAP (glia cells). Secondary detection by Cy3 (red) and Cy2 (green). The The neuronal-glial ratio was >98% in the primary neuronal cultures. Middle: neuronal cultures at seeding, with red marks for Cell-IQ counting. Right: After 4 days the cells form neurospheres and neurites. Oxidative measurements were made at day 2, before the formation of neurospheres.

3.4 TRAUMA MODELS

3.4.1 Experimental traumatic brain contusion

Male rats weighing approximately 230–300 g, at an age of 8–12 weeks, were anesthetized by intraperitoneal injection of 2.7 ml/kg of a mixture of Hyperoxynitriteorm (fluanisone, 10 mg/ml, fentanyl citrate, 0.315 mg/ml, Janssen), Dormicum (midazolam, 1 mg/ml, Roche) and sterile water. In addition, 0.2 ml of Marcain (bupivacaine, 5 mg/ml, AstraZeneca) was injected subcutaneously in the sagittal midline of the skull before the skin incision was made. The rats

were placed in a stereotactic frame and a 2 mm craniotomy was drilled 3 mm posterior and 2.3 mm lateral to the bregma. A standardized parietal contusion was made by letting a 24 gram weight fall onto a rod with a flat end diameter of 1.8 mm from a height of 7 cm (Feeney et al. 1981) (Holmin and Mathiesen 1996). The rod was allowed to compress the tissue for a maximum of 3 mm. Sham operated animals were subjected to identical treatment except for the weight drop injury. All animals were sacrificed using CO₂.



Figure 5 – Rodent skull illustrating the craniotomy (performed, marked with a red dot (image in public domain).

3.4.2 Focal penetrating traumatic brain injury

The penetrating model leads to cell death and cavity formation, hemorrhage. neurodegeneration, gliosis, and a deficiency in reference memory, likely due to injuries of the cortex and the hippocampus . Male and female rats weighing between 250 and 300 g were anesthetized by a 2.4 mL/kg intra-abdominal injection of a mixture of 1ml midazolam (5 mg/mL), 1mL Hypnorm (VetaPharma) and 2 mL dH₂0. A midline incision was made through the skin and periosteum, and a burr hole 2.7 mm in diameter was drilled with its center 3 mm lateral and 3 mm posterior to the bregma. The



Figure 6 – Illustration of the focal penetrating traumatic brain injury model. The rat is placed in a stereotactic frame (lower left corner). A modified air rifle is accelerating a lead pellet creating the injury. Figure courtesy of Johan Davidsson, Chalmers University of Technology.

rat was placed in a stereotactic frame and positioned with the probe directly above the dura mater. A lead pellet was accelerated by air pressure hitting a metal cylinder probe with an attached carbon fiber pin with a tip radius of 1 mm. Depth of penetration into the brain by the pin was limited to 5 mm. After the injury the craniotomy was left open and the skin was sutured. Sham operated animals were subjected to identical treatment except for the penetrating injury. All animals were sacrificed by an overdose of pentobarbital. Penetrating brain injuries are particularly prevalent in war zones (Meyer et al. 2008) and in areas with a high incidence of gun related violence (Coronado et al. 2011), although occurring in all parts of the world.

Figure 7 – Right: 3D reconstruction of a CT scan of the head showing a penetrating brain injury by a bullet entering the left temporal part of the skull. Left: CT scan of the head showing bony destruction (upper right) and a bullet remaining inside the brain (lower right). The pictures serve only to illustrate the need for encompassing the injury panorama in penetrating injuries. Picture courtesy of Dr. Ulrika Sandvik, the Neurosurgery department at Karolinska University Hospital in Stockholm.



3.4.3 Flyer Plate



Figure 8 – illustration of the flyer plate model.

A Nd–YAG laser (wavelength 1.064 nm, Quantel) creating laser pulses with a duration of 6 nanoseconds and a pulse energy of 5-6 mJ was aimed on to a fused silica window with a 7 mm thin layer of copper vapor deposit on the top side. The diameter of the beam at the target was <3 mm. When hit by a laser pulse, the inner layer of the copper vaporized accelerating a flyer-plate which hit the bottom of a cell culture well, placed in immediate contact with the fused silica window. As a result, a shock wave pulse with cavitation was generated in the well. The amount of medium used in each well was 400µl, as it resulted in visual confirmation of cavitation in the well by droplet formation on the inside of the well roof (Sonden et al. 2006).

3.5 PHARMACOLOGICAL INTERVENTION

3.5.1 LPS/IFN-y induction

Cell cultures were induced by 500 ng/ml LPS from E-coli 0128:B12 (Sigma-Aldrich), and 100 ng/ml recombinant Rat IFN- γ (Millipore), added to the cell medium for 24h. LPS/IFN- γ stimulation is an established method of macrophage induction (Griscavage et al. 1993) (Stuehr and Marletta 1987).

3.5.2 Oxidative stress induction

Oxidative stress was induced by the following compounds. (1) Diethylenetriamine/NO adduct (DETA NO) releases 2 mol NO/mol parent compound (Sigma Aldrich). A stock was prepared (50 mM) in dH₂O which was diluted in cell culture medium in concentrations according to previous studies (Dranka et al. 2011) (Dranka et al. 2010). (2) 2,3-Dimethoxy-1,4-naphthoquinone (DMNQ) releases O_2^- (Sigma Aldrich). A stock was prepared (15 mM) in DMSO which was diluted in cell culture medium in concentrations according to previous studies (Dranka et al. 2010) (Tamm et al. 2008). The concentration of DMSO in cell culture medium did not exceed 0.1%. (3) 3-Morpholinosydnonimine hydrochloride (SIN-1) uses molecular oxygen to generate both O_2^- and NO that spontaneously form ONOO⁻ (Sigma Aldrich). A stock was prepared (3 mM) in dH₂O which was diluted in cell culture medium in concentrations according to previous studies (Acquaviva et al. 2004; Trackey et al. 2001). (4) 4-Hydroxynonenal (4-HNE) is formed by peroxidation of fatty acids (Calbiochem). The stock was supplied at 10 mg/ml and diluted in cell culture medium in concentrations according to previous studies (Dranka et al. 2011) (Malecki et al. 2000).

3.5.3 N-acetylcysteine amide

NACA (Sentient LifeSciences) was administered in rats by intraperitoneal injections 300 mg/kg after 2 min and additional boluses of 300 mg/kg after 4h (100 mg/mL in distilled water). The dosage was chosen to deliver maximum CNS efficacy according to recent studies (Patel et al. 2014).

3.6 ASSAYS

3.6.1 Rat brain sections

Rat brains were snap frozen in 2-methylbutane and stored at -70°C. They were then cut into 14- μ m coronal and horizontal sections using a Microm HM560 and a Leica CM3000 cryostat. The

sections were extending from the frontal to the dorsal border of the injury, macroscopically verified to encompass contused brain matter. The frozen sections were mounted onto Thermo Scientific Superfrost plus slides and stored at -70°C.

3.6.2 Immunohistochemistry

Sections were rehydrated in PBS followed by fixation in 4% formaldehyde, incubation in 0.3% H_20_2 , incubation for 1h in bovine serum albumin (BSA) with 0.3% Triton X-100, sodium azide and avidin block solution (ABC method, Vectastain Elite ABC peroxidase kit, Vector Labs). The primary antibody was incubated overnight at 4° C. Sections were incubated for 1h with a biotinylated secondary antibody, followed by avidin-biotin complex for 1h, followed by DAB 3 min and counterstaining with Hematoxylin III nach Gill and Entellan mount (Merck) or Pertex (Histolab). All steps included washing for 3x10 min with phosphate buffer solution (PBS).

3.6.3 Immunofluorescence

Sections were rehydrated in PBS followed by fixation in 4% formaldehyde, incubation for 1h in BSA with 0.3% Triton X-100 and NaAzid and incubated over night at 4° C with the primary antibody diluted in 1% bovine serum albumin, 0.3% Triton X-100 and NaAzid. Following 1h incubation with the secondary antibody, sections were mounted with Mowiol (Polysciences) or ProLong Gold antifade with or without DAPI (Life Technologies).

3.6.4 Fluoro Jade

Fluoro Jade marks degenerating neurons (Schmued et al. 1997). Sections were, after fixation in 4% formaldehyde, incubated for 10 min in 0.06% KMnO₄ and 30 min incubation in Fluoro Jade B (Millipore) or Fluoro Jade (Histochem) in a working solution of 0.00002% in 0.1% acetic acid, before being washed in dH₂O and dried on a 50°C hot plate (approx. 50° C) and mounted with Entellan or Pertex.

3.6.5 TUNEL

Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling (TUNEL) is indicative of apoptosis, and was performed with TACS 2 TdT-Blue Label in situ Apoptosis Detection Kit (Trevigen) according to manufacturer's instructions.

3.6.6 In situ hybridization

Radioactive in situ hybridization was done by using 35S-labeled 40- to 48-mer oligonucleotides complementary to mRNA encoding respective protein (Dagerlind et al. 1992). Oligonucleotides were manufactured by Cybergene. The probes were hybridized to the sections without

pretreatment overnight at 42°C. After hybridization, the sections were washed several times in 13 SSC at 60°C, dehydrated in ethanol and dipped in NTB2 nuclear track emulsion (Kodak, Rochester, NY). After 4 weeks, the sections were developed in D-19 developer (Kodak) and coverslipped.

3.6.7 Western blot

Cells were washed with 4°C HBSS. RIPA lysis buffer (TBS, 1% Nonidet P-40, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS, 0.004% sodium azide, PMSF, protease inhibitor cocktail, sodium orthovanadate) was added for 15 min at 4°C (Santa Cruz Biotechnology). Cells were scraped from the bottom of the wells and placed in plastic tubes (6-8 wells were combined for one sample in electrophoresis) and centrifuged for 10 min at 10.000 rpm at 4°C. The protein content was determined in the supernatant by a protein assay (Bio-Rad). Samples were denaturated (70°C, 10 min) and reduced (2.5% β -mercaptomethanol), and loaded on NuPAGE Novex Bis-Tris 10% mini gels (Life Technologies) with Odyssey protein molecular weight marker (Li-Cor).

Electrophoresis and transfer to PVDF membranes was done in XCell SureLock Mini-Cell, using buffers according to manufacturer's instructions (Life Technologies). Membranes were blocked for 1h in Odyssey blocking buffer (Li-Cor) and incubated overnight in 4°C with the primary antibody and tubulin loading control diluted in Odyssey blocking buffer. Membranes were washed 4x5 min in PBS+0.1% Tween20 and incubated in secondary antibodies diluted in Odyssey blocking buffer for 1h, followed by washing 5x5 min in PBS+0.1% Tween20 before being scanned by Odyssey infrared imaging system (Li-Cor), allowing two antibodies to be detected simultaneously in 700 nm and 800 nm.

3.6.8 In Cell Western

Cells were fixed in 4% formaldehyde for 10 min and permeabilized 5x5 min in PBS+0.1% Triton X-100. Cells were blocked for 1h in Odyssey blocking buffer, and incubated overnight at 4°C with the primary antibody diluted in Odyssey blocking buffer, validated for ICW specificity by western blot. Cells were washed 5x5 min in PBS+0.1% Tween20 before being scanned in 169 µm resolution by Odyssey infrared imaging system. Secondary IR antibodies used were the same as for western blot. The integrated intensity in each well was normalized to the actual cell number by DRAQ5 and Sapphire700 normalizing cell staining agents (Li-Cor), reducing any difference in protein expression as a result of varied cell amounts.

3.6.9 Lactate dehydrogenase assay

Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) is an oxidoreductase present in all cell types. LDH is released into the cell culture medium relatively to the loss of cell membrane integrity, thus providing a measure of necrotic cell damage. LDH activity in cell culture medium was measured by a colorimetric assay (Abcam). LDH reduces NAD to NADH, which interacts with a specific probe to produce a color (λ max = 450 nm), quantified by Multiskan EX plate reader (Thermo Fisher Scientific). A standard curve was constructed. The LDH activity in the medium was normalized to the total protein amount in the wells, quantified for western blot as previously described.

3.6.10 CellROX oxidative stress detection

CellROX green reagent is a fluorogenic probe for measuring oxidative stress in living cells. The cell-permeant dye is weakly fluorescent while in a reduced state and exhibits bright green photostable fluorescence upon oxidation by ROS and subsequent binding to DNA, with absorption/emission maxima of ~ 485/520 nm (GFP) (Life Technologies). CellROX was added to the wells in a 5 μ M final concentration after 2h of oxidative stress. NucBlue reagent, a Hoechst 33342 cell-permeant nuclear counterstain was added for 15 min (Life Technologies). After 30

min, the cells were washed x 2 with 4°C HBSS. The cell culture plates were photographed 20x in magnification in а Zeiss Observer Z inverted microscope. For each view, a DAPI and a GFP picture was subsequently taken and quantified CellProfiler in (Jones et al. 2008) by measuring the integrated intensity of the GFP staining at the loci of corresponding DAPI staining, thus measuring oxidative stress level in individual cells.



Figure 9 – Illustration of automated quantification by CellProfiler. Pictures were quantified by the nuclear DAPI staining, and the GFP response was measured for each nucleus.

3.6.11 Gene array analysis

Trizol (Life Technologies) was added for 3 min, and cells were removed using a cell scraper. 8 wells were pooled for each sample and kept in -70° C before being analyzed in Affymetrix RaGene-1_1-st-v1 and MoGene-1_1-st-v1 chips (n=3). Normalization and transformation of CEL-files was done in Affymetrix Expression Console software using the PLIER protocol. Gene by gene comparison and hierarchical clustering was done in Affymetrix Transcriptome Analysis

Console. Genes with significant differential regulation (fold change 1.4 and p<0.05) were analyzed in DAVID bioinformatics database (Huang et al. 2009). Functional annotation clusterings with enrichment scores >1.3 (corresponding to p<0.05) were compared for the groups.

3.6.12 Cell-IQ

Cell monitoring and morphological differentiation was made with the Cell-IQ 2 live cell imaging and analysis platform (Chipman Tech). Cells were continuously photographed by a 10x phase contrast microscope camera in Nunclon 24-well plates (Nunc), in an incubator setting (figure 2). Cell growth was measured and defined as Δ cell count / Δ time. Analysis of cell morphology and cell count was done with Cell-IQ analyzer software (Chipman Tech).

3.6.13 Griess nitrite assay

Nitrite content in the cell medium was measured by the Griess nitrite assay (Promega). Nitrite (NO_2^{-}) reacts with sulfanilic acid to form a diazonium cation which produces a red-violet colored azo dye (Tsikas 2007). Absorbance was measured at 540 nm by a Multiskan EX plate reader (Thermo Fisher Scientific).

3.7 QUANTIFICATION

3.7.1 Immunohistochemistry

The region of interest (ROI) was defined in coronal sections medially by the interhemispheric fissure and the midline; basally by the lower part of the third ventricle or corpus callosum, and laterally by the lateral border of the right hemisphere. Sections were analyzed in mid-lesion at approximate level Bregma -3.86 mm. In horizontal sections the ROI was defined medially by the interhemispheric fissure and the midline, dorsally by the dorsal cerebral border and laterally by the lateral border of the right hemisphere. Sections were analyzed in mid-lesion at approximate level Bregma -1.70 mm. The central necrotic part of the contusion was omitted from the ROI.

Sections were photographed in 4x - 400x magnification by Leica DMRB and a DM400B microscope equipped with a DFC320 camera or a Nikon Eclipse E600 microscope. Filters used were for Cy3 G-1B (ex/em 541-551/590 nm) or N2.1 (ex/em 515-560/590 nm), Alexa 488 and Fluoro-Jade filter FITC (ex/em 465-495/515-555 nm) or L4 (ex/em 450-490/515-560 nm), DAPI filter DAPI (ex/em 340-380/435-485). Sections were quantified by manual counting or computer assisted analysis by 2-30 sections per animal. For manual morphological identification and quantification all slides were blinded to the assessor. Quantification of TUNEL positive cells was done by counting positive cells, which displayed dark blue spots of DNA fragmentation in

conjunction with pyknotic nuclei. Quantification of 3-NT staining was performed in 400x magnification according to Hooper et al. (Hooper et al. 2000), with a slight modification to fit the ROI: 0 = none, 1 = 1-20 positive loci of staining in ROI, 2 = 20-40 scattered discrete loci of staining or areas of weak staining, 3 = Extensive areas of strong staining. Computer assisted analysis was done in CellProfiler (Jones et al. 2008) or ImageJ (Schneider et al. 2012) using specified scripts.





3.7.2 In Situ hybridization

Quantification of ISH was done by batch processing in ImageJ (Schneider et al. 2012) by the following script: run("8-bit"); run("Invert"); setAutoThreshold ("Yen/default"); //run("Threshold..."); run("Measure"). The integrated intensity was calculated (\sum pixel intensity (corrected for background) x area), reflecting the level of staining. Quantification of COX-2 ISH was done manually by a blinded assessor due to the inability of the software to satisfactory measure the response for this probe. The pictures were ranked according to the following system: 0 = no staining, 1= weak staining, 2 = clearly defined staining, 3 = heavy staining. 16-80 pictures per animal were analyzed depending on resolution.

3.7.3 Western blot

Densiometric quantification and normalization to α Tubulin was done in Image Studio v.2.1 (Li-Cor). In addition, all membranes contained an identical sample from rat macrophage cell line NR8383, stimulated with 500 ng/ml LPS from E-coli 0128:B12 (Sigma-Aldrich) and 100 ng/ml recombinant Rat IFN- γ (Millipore) for 24h and correspondingly treated for western blot. The sample expressed all proteins/protein-adducts examined and thus allowed all membranes to be

normalized to this sample, removing natural differences in western blot processing and staining, allowing for comparisons between different membranes.

3.7.4 In cell western

The images were analyzed in Odyssey Image Studio software. The integrated intensity for each well was calculated (\sum pixel intensity (corrected for background) x area), reflecting the primary antibody answer. The integrated intensity in each well was normalized to the actual cell number by DRAQ5 and Sapphire700 normalizing cell staining agents (Li-Cor), reducing any difference in protein expression as a result of varied cell amounts. A total of 20 wells were analyzed for each experiment.

3.8 STATISTICAL ANALYSES

Statistical analyses were done by GraphPad Prism versions 5.04 - 6.05 for Windows. All error bars represent the standard error of the mean. P<.05 was considered significant. Significance levels: * p<.05, ** p<.01, *** p<.005, **** p<.001.

In article I, the non-parametrical Kruskal-Wallis test was used.

In article II, all results were related to the baseline for that particular assay, probe and strain, and presented as percent of baseline. CellROX, western blots and LDH assays were analyzed by twoway ANOVAs with Šídák's multiple comparisons test. Baselines were analyzed by the nonparametric Mann-Whitney test. Fetal size was analyzed by Fischer's exact test. Fetus count, cell count at seeding and average viable cell count at seeding were analyzed by two tailed, unpaired ttest.

In article III, all systems (detection methods) were tested for normal distribution by the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test with Dallal-Wilkinson-Liliefor. The systems that passed the normality test were tested for statistical inference by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-test. The systems that failed the normality test were tested for statistical inference by the non-parametric Kruskal Wallis ANOVA followed by Dunn's post-hoc test.

In article IV, Affymetrix Transcriptome Analysis Console was used in addition. T-tests were used for gene array analysis, ICW, nitrite assay, western blot, and two-way repeated measures ANOVA with Šídák's multiple comparisons test for Cell-IQ. p<0.05 was considered significant. All error bars represent the standard deviation.

In article V, all systems (detection methods) were tested for normal distribution by the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test with Dallal-Wilkinson-Liliefor. The systems that passed the normality

test were tested for statistical inference by one-way ANOVA followed by Fishers Least Significant difference test. The systems that failed the normality test were tested for statistical inference by Mann-Whitney nonparametric test. Outliers were by Grubbs' method and subsequently removed.

4 RESULTS AND COMMENTS

4.1 GENETIC POLYMORPHISM AFTER TBI

4.1.1 In whole rat brain (I)

We demonstrated that genetic polymorphism affected the expression of the NO producing enzyme iNOS and the antioxidative enzyme MnSOD in the posttraumatic inflammatory response following TBI. The inbred strain DA is susceptible to CNS inflammation, while PVG is resistant, which affected redox related enzymes differently after trauma. The expression of iNOS was significantly higher in PVG compared to DA (p<0.05). The total amount of w3/13 positive infiltrating inflammatory cells did not differ, hence the iNOS variance was attributed to the amount of iNOS expression in the inflammatory cells. The level of iNOS positive neurons did not differ between strains. The regulation was regarded as genotype dependent. The mechanism remained unclear. It could be coupled to kinetics or the total amount of iNOS.



Figure 11 – Immunohistochemical quantification at 24h of (left) iNOS, (middle) MnSOD and (right) the morphological origin if iNOS positive cells. iNOS and MnSOD was increased in PVG rat brains compared to DA. The higher levels of iNOS were found in macrophages/microglia. No difference in neuronal iNOS formation was seen.

increased as a result of the trauma, but did not differ between strains. iNOS positive cells were spatially correlated to the nitrosative stress marker 3-NT and only detected in perilesional areas, agreeing with experimental ischemic brain injury (Ste-Marie et al. 2001). Unexpectedly, no differences were detected in the levels of 3-NT or Fluoro Jade positive neuronal degeneration. It is probable that higher levels of MnSOD in PVG rats (p<0.05), expressed in the perilesional area in cells morphologically identified as neurons, prevented an excessive formation of peroxynitrite to occur in spite of higher iNOS levels, thus protecting the PVG rat from oxidative stress. The

findings suggested a balance of the two potentially damaging and protective mechanisms. We could not assess whether underlying genetic differences determined the higher iNOS and MnSOD expression in one strain, or whether a rapid adaptive regulation led to secondary MnSOD synthesis in animals with higher levels of NO.

4.1.2 In isolated neuronal cultures (II)

The regulative difference in redox related enzymes in whole brain suggested that genetic susceptibility to CNS inflammation influenced the redox environment in the brain after TBI. However, it was unclear whether this heterogeneity directly affected intrinsic neuronal oxidative defenses. We therefore compared the intrinsic oxidative properties in primary neuronal cultures from the inbred rat strains DA and PVG after exposure to three oxidants with pivotal roles in the post traumatic inflammatory process: nitric oxide, superoxide and peroxynitrite as well as the lipid peroxidation product 4-HNE. Cell cultures allow for specific oxidative compound assessment by direct analysis without interference of supporting tissue or inflammatory cells. The cultures provide possibilities to manipulate the redox status in the cells and to analyze cell survival in absence of intrinsic buffer systems of the brain.

We found a clear genetic influence on neuronal susceptibility to oxidative stress. PVG was connected to a lower antioxidative response, elevated oxidative stress markers 3-Nitrotyrosine (3-NT) and 4-HNE and neuronal death measured by LDH release. The immediate stress response was higher in DA neurons than PVG after 2h for all oxidants and antioxidative enzymes were increased to higher levels after 24h. The induction of antioxidative enzymes must have been a result of de-novo synthesis, since increased levels were absent after 2h.

The MnSOD response was higher in DA than PVG after a peroxynitrite challenge, which differed from the results of a higher neuronal MnSOD response in PVG after TBI in article I. Probably, the inflammatory milieu in the brain shifted the antioxidative response related to the oxidative load, and hence the intrinsic MnSOD regulation of neurons could not be seen in vivo. Increased MnSOD in neurons and activated microglia after TBI resulting from increased superoxide formation lowers oxidative stress (Noack et al. 1998) and subsequently reduces lipid peroxidation, protein nitration and neuronal death (Keller et al. 1998).

It is possible that the lower MnSOD levels in DA neurons in vivo in article I were related to an increased need for reduction due to increased inflammation. Depletion of SOD after TBI may reflect an increased reductive demand (Hicdonmez et al. 2006). PVG neurons displayed a higher baseline of MnSOD, which may present an increased intrinsic protection against superoxide, or a response to higher native levels of superoxide. Superoxide caused twice the amount of MnSOD



Figure 12 - Genetic susceptibility to CNS inflammation was connected to redox active enzymes. Oxidative stress by peroxynitrite (SIN-1) in neuronal primary hippocampal cultures. DA neurons had an initial increased oxidative stress response at 2h compared to PVG and increased antioxidative MnSOD at 24h. The lower antioxidative response in PVG led to higher levels of protein nitration (3-NT), lipid peroxidation (4-HNE) and neuronal death in PVG compared to DA.

induction compared to NO and peroxynitrite, confirming the specificity of superoxide compared to NO or peroxynitrite as the main substrate for MnSOD. In contrast, this specificity was not found in PRDX5, which decreased by half after peroxynitrite only, confirming the specificity of PRDX5 as a peroxynitrite reductase (Dubuisson et al. 2004). In addition, DA had higher levels of PRDX5 after NO and superoxide, although statistical significance was not reached. After TBI, PRDX5 lowers nitro-oxidative stress and cell death (Szabo et al. 2007), while PRDX5 gene silencing makes cells more vulnerable (Knoops et al. 2011). Neither NO, superoxide, peroxynitrite or 4-HNE affected iNOS regulation. The absence of differential strain related regulation further indicated that iNOS induction by these oxidants was not under genetic control in neurons.

The lower antioxidative capacity in PVG led to higher levels of protein nitration (3-NT) and lipid peroxidation (4-HNE) ultimately causing higher levels of cell death in PVG. However, superoxide did not lead to higher protein nitration in PVG, possibly due to the different MnSOD regulation. Protein nitration and lipid peroxidation occurred rapidly, within 2h of peroxynitrite exposure. The powerful oxidant effect of peroxynitrite in neurons was demonstrated by substantial lipid peroxidation, 35 times over baseline, compared to 5-10 times by NO and

superoxide. Nitrosylation was seen at 10-15 times over baseline in all oxidants, suggesting that peroxynitrite caused more lipid peroxidation than nitrosylation in neurons, and that nitrosylation occurred indiscriminate of oxidant.

	Nitric Oxide						Superoxide					
	Oxidative stress	MnSOD	PRDX5	4-HNE	3-NT	LDH	Oxidative stress	MnSOD	PRDX5	4-HNE	3-NT	LDH
DA	up	same	same	down	down	down	up	same	same	down	same	down
PVG	down	same	same	up	up	up	down	same	same	up	same	up
	Peroxynitrite					4-HNE						
	Oxidative stress	MnSOD	PRDX5	4-HNE	3-NT	LDH	Oxidative stress	MnSOD	PRDX5	4-HNE	3-NT	LDH
DA	up	up	same	down	down	down	same	same	same	same	same	same
PVG	down	down	same	up	up	up	same	same	same	same	same	same

Figure 13 – Main differences in oxidative properties of DA and PVG neurons. The lower antioxidative response in PVG led to higher levels of protein nitration (3-NT), lipid peroxidation (4-HNE) and neuronal death in PVG compared to DA. Genetic susceptibility to CNS inflammation was connected to redox active enzymes after in vivo experimental TBI. A higher response than the other strain is termed "up" while a lower response is termed "down".

Surprisingly, 4-HNE did not cause acute oxidative stress; MnSOD, PRDX5 and 3-NT were not markedly increased, and cell death was only half of the levels induced by NO, superoxide and peroxynitrite. 4-HNE is an α_{β} -unsaturated aldehyde generated by peroxidation of ω -6 polyunsaturated fatty acids. At low and physiological levels 4-HNE acts as an endogenous signaling molecule, but high concentrations result in injury to mitochondria and neuronal cell death through both apoptosis and necrosis (Kruman and Mattson 1999). 4-HNE and 3-NT increase in cortical tissue within 30 min after experimental TBI (Deng et al. 2007). DA also showed increased neurodegeneration compared to PVG in vivo by intracerebral injections of 4-HNE, which was connected to higher levels of Gsta4 in PVG after TBI. Gsta4 is known to effectively reduce 4-HNE (Al Nimer et al. 2013b). Probably, the oxidative effect of 4-HNE is multifactorial, and depends on cell type, strain and location, but may also be related to detection methods.

Our findings suggest that 4-HNE had noticeably lower oxidative capabilities than NO, superoxide and peroxynitrite and that the toxic effects of 4-HNE did not include excessive oxidative stress. The absence of strain differences also suggested that the previously described favorable trait of PVG after TBI related to factors other than the intrinsic 4-HNE elimination in neurons.

4.1.3 Gender influence on inflammation (III)

In this study the inflammatory response after TBI in male and female rats was investigated with the hypothesis that CNS inflammation is affected by gender related genes. The study was designed to measure the expression of major inflammatory enzymes after TBI. We found that male rats had an increased COX-2 response in mRNA and protein levels at both 24h and 72h (p<.05). COX-2 was increased in the perilesional area and the protein expression pattern matched spatially with COX-2 mRNA expression, corroborating earlier findings in diffuse TBI (Cernak et al. 2002). The expression was located in the cortex of the entire hemisphere rather than the perilesional area, similar to the pattern of nestin expression in KCl induced spreading depression (Holmin et al. 2001) (von Baumgarten et al. 2008).



Figure 14 - Quantifications of COX-2 immunofluorescence showing higher expression of the inflammatory enzyme in male rats compared to females at both 24h and 72h, suggesting gender specific regulation.

iNOS mRNA increased in the perilesional area at 24h following TBI, corroborating earlier studies (Gahm et al. 2000). Higher expression was found in female rats (p<.05), although not paralleled in protein levels, contrasting a study of ischemic brain injury (Park et al. 2006). No difference was seen in 3-NT why we suggested that the gender specific inflammatory regulation did not primarily involve ROS. COX-2 and iNOS were not spatially co-expressed in the brain. iNOS and COX-2 share an inflammatory regulation (Mémet 2006), co-expression in microglia after TBI, multiple sclerosis and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (Loane and Byrnes 2010) (Rose et al. 2004) (Minghetti 2004) and NO modulates Cox activity (Marnett et al. 2000). However, our

results did not support broad co-regulation of iNOS and COX-2 as a consequence of the inflammatory response.

TUNEL staining, indicative of apoptosis, was increased in the hippocampus on the ipsilateral side at 24h with higher expression in male rats (p<.05). Fluoro Jade stain showed that neuronal degeneration was increased in the perilesional area at 24h and 72h with no difference between genders. The general inflammatory response was assessed by osteopontin and GFAP. They were equally affected in both genders. Osteopontin is an extracellular glycosylated phosphoprotein synthesized by macrophages and activated microglia, which is increased following TBI as an indication of microgliosis (Plantman 2012). GFAP is an intermediate filament protein which is increased in reactive astrocytes following CNS damage (Eng et al. 2000). The inflammatory response hence included an equal macrophage-, microglial- and astrocytic activation, further emphasizing the specificity of the differential COX-2 regulation observed in the study.

COX-2 increases in the CNS following signaling by growth factors, tumor promoters, hormones, bacterial endotoxin and cytokines (Smith and Dewitt 1996). Its role is contradictory with both adverse and protective effects in CNS disease (Minghetti 2004). After TBI, COX-2 inhibition improves cognition and motor function (Cernak et al. 2002), and COX-2 derived prostanoids appear to be toxic in NMDA related neurotoxicity (Manabe et al. 2004) although prostaglandins also induce VEGF expression and angiogenesis after CNS trauma (Sköld et al. 2000). The higher COX-2 expression in male rats provided for a putatively higher production of prostaglandins and a more extensive inflammatory response, which would be expected to cause increased neuronal damage unless balanced by simultaneous up regulation of protective mechanisms. We aimed to describe major inflammatory markers and enzymes in male and female rats given the unknown mechanistic links in female neuroprotection, which may be unrelated to sex hormones. It would be experimentally difficult to control for the rapid four day estrous cycle in rats (Marcondes et al. 2002) (Schank 2001) (Westwood 2008). Even so, the difference in COX-2 regulation was robust at two different times. The estrous cycle was probably not a probable confounding factor. We suggest a detrimental influence of COX-2 mediated inflammation and a possible link to differences in outcome between genders after TBI. A mechanistic relation between progesterone and COX-2 agrees with our findings: progesterone treatment decreased COX-2 expression and the levels of PGE₂ and TNF α in male rats (Si et al. 2014).

4.2 INFLAMMATORY CELL ACTIVATION BY TRAUMATIC FORCES (IV)

Microglia and macrophages play a vital part in the posttraumatic inflammation and account for a major part of the NO produced. However, it was not known how trauma could induce activation and iNOS synthesis in these inflammatory cells. Activation routes for inflammatory cells, other than cytokine mediated, may cause additional production of oxidative stress by traumatic forces, not seen in pathological contexts without traumatic forces. To study this hypothesis, we used two cell lines with microglial or macrophage lineage, from two different rodent strains, rat (NR8383) and mouse (RAW264.7). The omission of supportive tissue and the circulatory system reduces the number of confounding mechanisms and allows for isolation of traumatic effects at a cellular level (Kumaria and Tolias 2008) (Morrison et al. 1998) (Chopra et al. 1987).



Figure 15 - Cell count as a function of time by Cell-IQ. RAW264.7 macrophages were significantly activated by shock wave trauma. NR8383 were activated by flyer plate, although not passing the significance threshold.

Morphological signs of activation were detected in both macrophage cell-lines after shock wave trauma. In RAW264.7 the difference was statistically significant (p<0.05), and in NR8383 the activation was higher than in controls but the difference passed the threshold of statistical significance alpha (p<0.05) only at one time point. Shock wave trauma did not cause formation of iNOS mRNA in gene arrays or iNOS protein in ICW. Nitrite was not detected in cell culture medium by nitrite assay in any cell line. Shock wave trauma to NR8383 macrophages caused an increase of 167 genes compared to controls (p<0.05, fold change >1.4). Functional enrichment analysis by DAVID resulted in high enrichment for detection of chemical stimuli and membrane bound G-protein signaling with enrichment scores 7.01 and 4.87. Shock wave trauma to RAW264.7 macrophages caused an increase of 494 genes compared to controls (p<0.05, fold

change >1.4). Functional enrichment analysis by DAVID showed high enrichment for inflammatory response (enrichment score 3.18), response to wounding and defense response and detection of chemical stimuli and membrane bound G-protein signaling. Hierarchical clustering of the 100 genes with highest differential regulation between Flyer Plate and control allowed identification of a number of gene group regulations specific to Flyer Plate, differing from regulation following Flyer Plate combined with LPS.

Macrophage activation was previously described to follow two different routes, both requiring humoral signaling. The classical activation route (M1) occurs during cell-mediated immune response with IFN- γ and TNF, inhibiting cell proliferation and cause tissue damage (Mosser and Edwards 2008), and the alternative route, mediated by T helper 2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-13. Activated macrophages promote cell proliferation and tissue repair (Gordon and Martinez 2010). The alternatively activated macrophages may produce little or no proinflammatory cytokines and may also express arginase, which can inhibit NO production (Lumeng et al. 2007).

We detected morphological and biochemical signs of activation in the absence of humoral stimuli, just by transfer of mechanical energy. The absence of NO induction suggests that traumatic activation may be associated with the alternative route of induction. It is also probable that macrophages in vivo are further activated by cytokines included in the inflammatory response (Feuerstein et al. 1998). These include IFN- α , IFN- β , IFN- γ , TNF, IL-1, IL-2, IL-4, IL-10, IL-13, IL-17 and TGF- β (Miljkovic and Trajkovic 2004) (MacMicking et al. 1997) (Bogdan 2001) and may work in concert with traumatic forces to trigger a more extensive activation of iNOS than would be expected from cytokine activation only. It is possible that the addition of energy, which is unique to traumatic neurodegeneration, provides an initial step for the subsequent initiation of inflammation.

We concluded that shock wave trauma caused an inflammatory response and morphological signs of activation of the macrophage cell lines. We proposed a novel activation mechanism of macrophages by shock wave trauma, independent of cytokine activation. However, iNOS and NO were produced only in response to humoral signaling.

4.3 NEUROPROTECTION BY AN ANTIOXIDATIVE SUBSTANCE (V)

Redox intervention may provide new pharmacological targets (Marklund et al. 2006). We examined the effects of NACA in the secondary inflammatory response following focal penetrating TBI in rats. NACA is a modified form of NAC, which exhibits higher membrane- and blood brain barrier permeability than NAC (Offen et al. 2004) (Grinberg et al. 2005). NAC has limited but well documented neuroprotective effects after experimental CNS ischemia and TBI (Pandya et al. 2014), but the bioavailability is very low (Gilgun-Sherki et al. 2002). NAC reduces extracellular cystine to cysteine, supplies sulphydryl (-SH) groups that stimulate glutathione biosynthesis and enhances glutathione-S-transferase (GST) activity (Issels et al. 1988) (Nakata et al. 1996) (De Vries and De Flora 1993). Glutathione is an essential antioxidant, and depletion occurs in neurodegenerative diseases and CNS injuries (Drake et al. 2002) (Kamencic et al. 2001). NAC is also a potent free radical scavenger and antioxidant as a result of its nucleophilic reactions with ROS (Aruoma et al. 1989).



Figure 16 – NACA treatment decreased Fluoro Jade neuronal degeneration at 24h (p<0.01), TUNEL staining indicative of apoptosis at 2h (p<0.05), and increased MnSOD at 24h (p<0.05).

Combining the antioxidative properties of NAC with high CNS penetrance would create a promising substance for pharmacological intervention. We found that NACA treatment decreased neuronal degeneration, visualized by Fluoro Jade, at 24h with a mean decrease of 35.0% (p<0.05) and decreased TUNEL staining, indicative of apoptosis, at 2h. The mean change was 38.7% (p<0.05). The findings agreed with earlier studies of reduced apoptosis by NAC in mild TBI (Chen et al. 2008) and NACA-reduced apoptosis in renal epithelial cells induced with iohexol (Gong et al. 2010). It is probable that NACA treatment lowers both necrosis and apoptosis in the acute phase after TBI. MnSOD increased in the NACA treatment group at 24h with a mean increase of 35.9% (p<0.05), similar to increased MnSOD after NAC administration in experimental closed head trauma (Hicdonmez et al. 2006), which suggests that NACA and NACA

affects MnSOD expression similarly. The increased levels of MnSOD may reflect higher de-novo synthesis, or a decreased elimination due to lower oxidation levels. Levels of migrating macrophages and activated microglia (Ox-42) were not affected, similarly to a previous study (Chavko et al. 2009), hence the inflammation-regulative properties of NACA probably are not related to macrophage migration and microglia activation.

In agreement with earlier findings, iNOS increased at 24h following trauma (Gahm et al. 2000) (Miljkovic and Trajkovic 2004). NACA treatment did not affect iNOS, contrasting to a cell study (Gong et al. 2010). It is likely that the antioxidative properties of NACA did not primarily involve NO in the brain, but instead the antioxidative systems, as suggested in an early study of the compound (Bartov et al. 2006). NACA did not affect the levels of 3-NT at either time, corroborating results in moderate TBI (Pandya et al. 2014). This finding contrasted to a cell culture study (Bartov et al. 2006), probably a difference due to the absence of inflammatory cells, and glial cells. It is possible that higher MnSOD levels in the NACA treatment group were insufficient to eliminate the superoxide radical, or that increased superoxide resulted in effects other than protein nitration. NACA treatment did not alter NFkB, which translocates from the cytosol to the nucleus after TBI (Hang et al. 2006) (Chen et al. 2008). It is likely that NACA acts mainly antioxidatively in processes known to occur 2-24h after TBI (Bains and Hall 2011). NACA treatment did not affect caspase 3 activation, fundamental for apoptosis (Cheng et al. 2012), total levels of Cytochrome c, released from the mitochondria to the cytosol to activate Caspase 3 (Cheng et al. 2012) (Sullivan et al. 2002), or Bcl-2, preventing Cytochrome c efflux from the mitochondria in caspase mediated apoptosis (Cheng et al. 2012). Therefore, the effect of NACA on TUNEL labeled apoptosis is likely regulated by pathways other than Cytochrome c. We conclude that NACA prevented brain tissue damage after focal penetrating TBI, which we suggest was connected to the regulation of antioxidative enzymes rather than inflammatory cell migration.

5 GENERAL DISCUSSION

This thesis shows that genetic factors affect the secondary inflammation and redox systems after TBI. Genetically derived host factors in two male rat strains with different susceptibility to CNS inflammation and gender associated differences between male and female rats caused specific responses and affected outcomes. The findings increase knowledge about inflammation and oxidation mechanisms in experimental TBI and demonstrate the importance of host factors for the injury. It was shown that macrophages/microglia can be activated as a result of traumatic forces, an essential and unique component of TBI. Finally, a drug with antioxidative properties was shown to provide neuroprotection after TBI. Interestingly, iNOS, which is an important mediator of secondary reactions, was not part of traumatic induction in macrophages or differentially regulated in neurons.

Two different models of experimental TBI were used in the experimental settings. Weight drop injury produces a mild focal injury (Feeney et al. 1981). The penetrating injury model produces a moderate focal penetrating injury. Both models resemble brain contusions and produce a perilesional neuroinflammatory response, important for relevant hypothesis testing in CNS trauma research. TBI is inherently heterogeneous. Subsequently, several pre-clinical models are needed in order to mimic pathological mechanisms (Diaz-Arrastia et al. 2014). One principal finding of the thesis, that genetic polymorphism affects CNS inflammation and oxidative stress, was corroborated in two different TBI models and in a cell culture model. We demonstrated that the iNOS and MnSOD regulation differed. iNOS is induced during inflammation and accounts for a majority of NO production. It adds oxidative stress in the brain. MnSOD is an antioxidative enzyme well known to provide neuroprotection after TBI. By comparing homogenous rat strains with fundamental differences in CNS inflammation, we detected differences that may be important for the future direction of TBI research, but too subtle to be detected in a general heterogeneous human population.

The differences found in DA and PVG whole brains were corroborated in isolated neuronal cell cultures, a study designed to describe the intrinsic antioxidative mechanisms in neurons with special regard to MnSOD and iNOS. The inability of the post-mitotic neuron to divide to replace or dilute damaged components together with low antioxidant levels (Almeida et al. 2002), make neurons vulnerable to oxidative stress, emphasizing the need for an effective antioxidative protection. Neuroprotection is dependent on an array of supporting cells and inflammatory migratory cells, but the intrinsic neuronal protection mechanisms may ultimately decide whether the neurons live or die.

The higher inflammatory activation in DA brains would have provided a highly oxidative environment after TBI, and we initially believed that DA rats would have elevated susceptibility to oxidative stress and neuronal damage. Interestingly, when taking the findings from the whole brain to isolated neurons, we discovered that the PVG neurons with a low CNS inflammatory response instead had a decreased defense against oxidative stress. Possibly, neurons primed by an environment with high inflammatory activity had increased the compensatory antioxidative systems. Neurons may adapt the antioxidative mechanisms correspondingly in order to maintain survival. The mechanistic links remain to be elucidated, but it may be speculated that hormesis; oxidative stress adaptation by which cells respond to, and cope with environmental and physiological shifts in level of oxidative stress, may also affect genetic traits. Repeated stress by hydrogen peroxide led to significant extension of adaptive processes in cell cultures (Pickering et al. 2013).

Coping with oxidative stress may be secondary to the general inflammatory response, and not a main feature of neuroprotection. The oxidative stress in inflammation may also be situationally and spatially dependent. The oxidative environment is a consequence of inflammatory cells, why it may be suggested that targeting the cellular inflammatory response is a priority in oxidative stress related adverse effects. Also, oxidative stress may be beneficial in autoimmune diseases affecting organs other than the immune-privileged CNS. DA, with increased susceptibility to autoimmune associated disease arthritis, has lower oxidative burst than arthritis-resistant strains (Olofsson et al. 2002).

Our findings that genetic polymorphism affected the inflammatory response led to analyses of the hypothesis that gender could also affect posttraumatic CNS inflammation. Gender correlated with differential risks and vulnerability to inflammatory disease (Mirandola et al. 2015). Although results are conflicting regarding outcome after TBI in human cohorts, experimental studies point towards a protection by the female gender after TBI. We demonstrated that the inflammatory enzyme COX-2 was elevated in males after TBI. COX-2 is pivotal in inflammation, and the target enzyme for the widely used non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAID). A possible mechanism connected to different outcomes of TBI may provide suggestions for future treatment targets, although mechanisms need to be further elucidated. The female sex hormone progesterone did not show beneficial results in outcomes in patients with acute TBI in the recent ProTECT III study (Wright et al. 2014). Gender related protective mechanisms are probably more complex, and continued fundamental research is vital for future findings of exploitable mechanistic links.

Physical trauma to the nervous system is usually the result of many forces with different directions and kinetics. The fact that traumatic injuries entail energy transfer to the brain provides a fundamental difference from ischemic pathology. The latter is a consequence of deprivation of energy. Fundamental relations between traumatic forces and inflammation such as whether

traumatic energy transfer to macrophages can produce an inflammatory response are insufficiently studied. We used an experimental model that delivers shock waves similar to those registered inside of rat brains after blast injury (Chavko et al. 2011), and demonstrated that shock wave trauma caused an onset of intracellular sensory- and inflammatory reactions in two macrophage cell lines. The fact that energy transfer by itself can activate macrophages is highly intriguing, since much knowledge of neurodegenerative mechanisms in trauma reflects extrapolation of findings from models of ischemia, where the causal factor is energy deprivation. Whether shock wave induced macrophages augment the post-traumatic inflammation or act protectively remains to be elucidated. Surprisingly, the activated macrophages did not produce iNOS or NO. It is possible that the macrophages did not contribute to NO-derived oxidative stress or that NO production requires a crosstalk with additional cellular elements.

Finally, we demonstrated neuroprotection by NACA following penetrating focal brain injury by decreased neuronal degeneration, apoptosis and increased MnSOD. Depletion of SOD in the brain has been suggested to reflect an increased reductive demand after TBI (Hicdonmez et al. 2006). Our findings in neuronal cell cultures were that elevated MnSOD levels correlated with reduced oxidative markers and cell death. The findings agreed with this mechanistic model of explanation, and, together with other findings (Pandya et al. 2014) (Patel et al. 2014), suggest that NACA is a potential pharmacological candidate in the treatment of TBI.

Taken together, our data support the need to study oxidative mechanisms in TBI and show that genetic polymorphisms determine the secondary inflammation and oxidative stress following TBI. The findings are important to (a) corroborate findings of neuroprotection in animal models in humans, (b) achieve significant neuroprotection in human clinical trials and (c) suggest an explanatory model for differences in outcome in a human population, essential for updated outcome predictions.

6 CONCLUSIONS

This thesis verified the complexity of the secondary inflammatory process after TBI and confirmed the need for wider explanatory models for outcome predictions and identification of pharmaceutical targets. The importance of host factors for outcome was demonstrated and a unique effect of energy transfer by trauma was shown to activate inflammatory traits. We did not elucidate the regulation of iNOS, but made several other novel observations.

Genetic susceptibility to CNS inflammation was connected to redox active enzymes after in vivo experimental TBI. NO producing enzyme iNOS and antioxidative enzyme MnSOD were increased at 24h in the PVG rat strain, protected from CNS inflammation compared to DA, susceptible to CNS inflammation, indicating genetic regulation. The difference in iNOS regulation was seen in inflammatory cells while neuronal iNOS expression did not differ. The increased levels of iNOS did not lead to increased neuronal degeneration at 24h.

The genetic regulation of oxidative stress vulnerability was corroborated in primary neuronal cultures from DA and PVG rats. This was the first demonstration that inbred strains could have different oxidative responses. While PVG neurons had decreased oxidative stress levels at 2h, at 24h oxidative stress markers for nitrosylation and lipid peroxidation and neuronal death were elevated compared to DA neurons. Neurons primed in an environment of high susceptibility to inflammatory activity seem to have increased compensatory antioxidative systems.

iNOS was not increased by any of the oxidants, suggesting that humoral stimulation was necessary for neuronal iNOS induction and that iNOS induction by these oxidants were not under genetic control in isolated neurons.

COX-2 regulation differed between genders after experimental TBI. Male rats expressed higher levels of COX-2 mRNA and protein than female rats at 24h and 72h, correlating with increased apoptotic cell death at 24h, but not with neuronal degeneration. Females had higher iNOS mRNA expression although not in protein levels. No difference was seen between genders in astrogliosis, microgliosis or nitrosylation.

Macrophage cell lines from mouse and rat were activated by shock wave trauma, causing an inflammatory response which did not include iNOS or NO. iNOS induction appeared to require humoral signaling by LPS/IFN-y. Direct energy transfer by trauma activated the macrophages directly without humoral mediators, comprising a novel activation mechanism in macrophages.

The final article corroborated the relevance of antioxidant therapy in experimental neurotrauma. Posttraumatic treatment with antioxidative compound NACA reduced neuronal degeneration and

increased levels of MnSOD at 24h. Apoptosis was reduced at 2h, which regulation did not include cytochrome C or Bcl-2. NACA did not affect levels of migrating macrophages/activated microglia, iNOS, nitrosylation or NFkB.

We have found that direct energy transfer, which does not occur in non-traumatic neurodegeneration, can cause activation on the cellular levels and showed several examples and analyses of how host factors influence inflammation and oxidation. The findings show a higher complexity in post-traumatic responses than usually acknowledged and considered.

Our findings can improve preclinical and clinical pharmacological trials, and provide new knowledge to reach the main objective of finding effective pharmacological interventions in the treatment of TBI.

7 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to:

Tiit Mathiesen, my principal supervisor, for your outstanding rhetorical skills and for teaching me the art of scientific thinking, hypothesis testing and argumentation. Mårten Risling, my co-supervisor, for your vast knowledge, low-key humor and for giving me such freedom in the lab. Stefan Plantman, my co-supervisor, for great discussions about science and teaching. Caroline Gahm, my co-supervisor, for your constant support and important clinical career discussions. Jan Zedenius, my mentor, for great career discussions.

All the people in, or associated with the experimental traumatology lab or Karolinska Institutet: Ulf Arborelius, Maria Angéria, Jenny Gustavsson, David Rocksén, Lizan Kawa, Yuli Cao, Anders Hånell, Elisabeth Malm, Mattias Sköld, Elham Rostami, Niclas Wisén, Denes Agoston, Johan Davidsson, Svante Norgren, Rand Wilcos Vanden Berg, Hector Tremearne, Kayvan Dehlaghi Jadid, Katarina Johansson and Johan Widenfalk.

All the friends in the neighboring group: Suvarna Dash-Wagh, Anette Fransson, Paula Mannström, Tadashi Yoshida, Mats Ulfendahl, Rouknuddin Ali and Shaden Khalifa,

All the people at the Department of Clinical Neuroscience: Britt Meijer, Eric Thelin, Bo-Michael Bellander, Jonathan Nordblom, Lisa Arvidsson, Nasrinne Jaff, Faiez Al Nimer, Fredrik Piehl, Jonas Blixt, Arvid Frostell and Camilla Ultenius.

Ulrika Sandvik at the Neurosurgery department at Karolinska University Hospital for the illustrative TBI pictures.

My family: Jessica, Göran, Anja, Leni, Niklas, Paul, Jonas, Ulrika, Staffan, Olov, Monica, Lorna, Hilva, Tilda and Isak. And especially: Adeline and Petra.

All the aforementioned, and if regretfully not mentioned: thank you!

8 REFERENCES

- Acquaviva R, Campisi A, Murabito P, Raciti G, Avola R, Mangiameli S, Musumeci I, Barcellona ML, Vanella A, Li Volti G. 2004. Propofol attenuates peroxynitrite-mediated DNA damage and apoptosis in cultured astrocytes: an alternative protective mechanism. Anesthesiology 101(6):1363-1371.
- Al Nimer F, Beyeen AD, Lindblom R, Strom M, Aeinehband S, Lidman O, Piehl F. 2011. Both MHC and non-MHC genes regulate inflammation and T-cell response after traumatic brain injury. Brain Behav Immun 25(5):981-990.
- Al Nimer F, Lindblom R, Ström M, Guerreiro-Cacais AO, Parsa R, Aeinehband S, Mathiesen T, Lidman O, Piehl F. 2013a. Strain influences on inflammatory pathway activation, cell infiltration and complement cascade after traumatic brain injury in the rat. Brain Behav Immun 27(1):109-122.
- Al Nimer F, Ström M, Lindblom R, Aeinehband S, Bellander BM, Nyengaard JR, Lidman O, Piehl F. 2013b. Naturally occurring variation in the Glutathione-S-Transferase 4 gene determines neurodegeneration after traumatic brain injury. Antioxid Redox Signal 18(7):784-794.
- Almeida A, Delgado-Esteban M, Bolaños JP, Medina JM. 2002. Oxygen and glucose deprivation induces mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress in neurones but not in astrocytes in primary culture. J Neurochem 81(2):207-217.
- Aminoff MJ, Boller F, Swaab DF. 2015. Foreword. Handb Clin Neurol 127:vii.
- Arteel GE, Briviba K, Sies H. 1999. Protection against peroxynitrite. FEBS Lett 445(2-3):226-230.
- Aruoma OI, Halliwell B, Hoey BM, Butler J. 1989. The antioxidant action of N-acetylcysteine: its reaction with hydrogen peroxide, hydroxyl radical, superoxide, and hypochlorous acid. Free Radic Biol Med 6(6):593-597.
- Bains M, Hall ED. 2011. Antioxidant therapies in traumatic brain and spinal cord injury. Biochim Biophys Acta 1822(5):675-84.
- Bartov O, Sultana R, Butterfield DA, Atlas D. 2006. Low molecular weight thiol amides attenuate MAPK activity and protect primary neurons from Abeta(1-42) toxicity. Brain Res 1069(1):198-206.
- Bayir H, Kagan VE, Borisenko GG, Tyurina YY, Janesko KL, Vagni VA, Billiar TR, Williams DL, Kochanek PM. 2005. Enhanced oxidative stress in iNOS-deficient mice after traumatic brain injury: support for a neuroprotective role of iNOS. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 25(6):673-684.
- Beckman JS, Beckman TW, Chen J, Marshall PA, Freeman BA. 1990. Apparent hydroxyl radical production by peroxynitrite: implications for endothelial injury from nitric oxide and superoxide. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87(4):1620-1624.

- Bellander BM, Lidman O, Ohlsson M, Meijer B, Piehl F, Svensson M. 2010. Genetic regulation of microglia activation, complement expression, and neurodegeneration in a rat model of traumatic brain injury. Exp Brain Res 205(1):103-114.
- Berry C, Ley EJ, Tillou A, Cryer G, Margulies DR, Salim A. 2009. The effect of gender on patients with moderate to severe head injuries. J Trauma 67(5):950-953.
- Block ML, Zecca L, Hong JS. 2007. Microglia-mediated neurotoxicity: uncovering the molecular mechanisms. Nat Rev Neurosci 8(1):57-69.
- Bogdan C. 2001. Nitric oxide and the immune response. Nature immunology 2(10):907-916.
- Braden AW. 1958. Strain differences in the incidence of polyspermia in rats after delayed mating. Fertil Steril 9(3):243-246.
- Brait VH, Jackman KA, Walduck AK, Selemidis S, Diep H, Mast AE, Guida E, Broughton BRS, Drummond GR, Sobey CG. 2010. Mechanisms contributing to cerebral infarct size after stroke: gender, reperfusion, T lymphocytes, and Nox2-derived superoxide. Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism 30(7):1306-1317.
- Briviba K, Kissner R, Koppenol WH, Sies H. 1998. Kinetic study of the reaction of glutathione peroxidase with peroxynitrite. Chem Res Toxicol. United States. p 1398-1401.
- Carballal S, Bartesaghi S, Radi R. 2014. Kinetic and mechanistic considerations to assess the biological fate of peroxynitrite. Biochim Biophys Acta 1840(2):768-780.
- Carocho M, Ferreira IC. 2013. A review on antioxidants, prooxidants and related controversy: natural and synthetic compounds, screening and analysis methodologies and future perspectives. Food Chem Toxicol 51:15-25.
- Cernak I, O'Connor C, Vink R. 2002. Inhibition of cyclooxygenase 2 by nimesulide improves cognitive outcome more than motor outcome following diffuse traumatic brain injury in rats. Exp Brain Res 147(2):193-199.
- Chavko M, Adeeb S, Ahlers ST, McCarron RM. 2009. Attenuation of pulmonary inflammation after exposure to blast overpressure by N-acetylcysteine amide. Shock 32(3):325-331.
- Chavko M, Watanabe T, Adeeb S, Lankasky J, Ahlers ST, McCarron RM. 2011. Relationship between orientation to a blast and pressure wave propagation inside the rat brain. J Neurosci Methods 195(1):61-66.
- Chen G, Shi J, Hu Z, Hang C. 2008. Inhibitory effect on cerebral inflammatory response following traumatic brain injury in rats: a potential neuroprotective mechanism of N-acetylcysteine. Mediators Inflamm 2008:716458.
- Cheng G, Kong RH, Zhang LM, Zhang JN. 2012. Mitochondria in traumatic brain injury and mitochondrial-targeted multipotential therapeutic strategies. Br J Pharmacol 167(4):699-719.
- Chopra J, Joist JH, Webster RO. 1987. Loss of 51chromium, lactate dehydrogenase, and 111indium as indicators of endothelial cell injury. Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology 57(5):578-584.

- Clausen F, Marklund N, Lewen A, Enblad P, Basu S, Hillered L. 2012. Interstitial F(2)isoprostane 8-iso-PGF(2alpha) as a biomarker of oxidative stress after severe human traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma 29(5):766-775.
- Coronado VG, Xu L, Basavaraju SV, McGuire LC, Wald MM, Faul MD, Guzman BR, Hemphill JD, (CDC) CfDCaP. 2011. Surveillance for traumatic brain injury-related deaths--United States, 1997-2007. MMWR Surveill Summ 60(5):1-32.
- Dagerlind A, Friberg K, Bean AJ, Hökfelt T. 1992. Sensitive mRNA detection using unfixed tissue: combined radioactive and non-radioactive in situ hybridization histochemistry. Histochemistry 98(1):39-49.
- Dardiotis E, Fountas KN, Dardioti M, Xiromerisiou G, Kapsalaki E, Tasiou A, Hadjigeorgiou GM. 2010. Genetic association studies in patients with traumatic brain injury. Neurosurg Focus 28(1):E9.
- De Vries N, De Flora S. 1993. N-acetyl-l-cysteine. J Cell Biochem Suppl 17F:270-277.
- Deng Y, Thompson BM, Gao X, Hall ED. 2007. Temporal relationship of peroxynitrite-induced oxidative damage, calpain-mediated cytoskeletal degradation and neurodegeneration after traumatic brain injury. Exp Neurol 205(1):154-165.
- Diaz-Arrastia R, Kochanek PM, Bergold P, Kenney K, Marx CE, Grimes CJ, Loh LT, Adam LT, Oskvig D, Curley KC, Salzer W. 2014. Pharmacotherapy of traumatic brain injury: state of the science and the road forward: report of the Department of Defense Neurotrauma Pharmacology Workgroup. J Neurotrauma 31(2):135-158.
- Dominguez CA, Ström M, Gao T, Zhang L, Olsson T, Wiesenfeld-Hallin Z, Xu XJ, Piehl F. 2012. Genetic and sex influence on neuropathic pain-like behaviour after spinal cord injury in the rat. Eur J Pain 16(10):1368-1377.
- Drake J, Kanski J, Varadarajan S, Tsoras M, Butterfield DA. 2002. Elevation of brain glutathione by gamma-glutamylcysteine ethyl ester protects against peroxynitrite-induced oxidative stress. J Neurosci Res 68(6):776-784.
- Dranka BP, Benavides GA, Diers AR, Giordano S, Zelickson BR, Reily C, Zou L, Chatham JC, Hill BG, Zhang J, Landar A, Darley-Usmar VM. 2011. Assessing bioenergetic function in response to oxidative stress by metabolic profiling. Free Radic Biol Med 51(9):1621-1635.
- Dranka BP, Hill BG, Darley-Usmar VM. 2010. Mitochondrial reserve capacity in endothelial cells: The impact of nitric oxide and reactive oxygen species. Free Radic Biol Med 48(7):905-914.
- Dubuisson M, Vander Stricht D, Clippe A, Etienne F, Nauser T, Kissner R, Koppenol WH, Rees JF, Knoops B. 2004. Human peroxiredoxin 5 is a peroxynitrite reductase. FEBS Lett. Netherlands. p 161-165.
- Eng LF, Ghirnikar RS, Lee YL. 2000. Glial fibrillary acidic protein: GFAP-thirty-one years (1969-2000). Neurochem Res 25(9-10):1439-1451.
- Farace E, Alves WM. 2000. Do women fare worse: a metaanalysis of gender differences in traumatic brain injury outcome. J Neurosurg 93(4):539-545.

- Faraci FM. 2006. Reactive oxygen species: influence on cerebral vascular tone. J Appl Physiol (1985) 100(2):739-743.
- Feeney DM, Boyeson MG, Linn RT, Murray HM, Dail WG. 1981. Responses to cortical injury: I. Methodology and local effects of contusions in the rat. Brain Res 211(1):67-77.
- Feinberg M, Mai JC, Ecklund J. 2015. Neurosurgical management in traumatic brain injury. Semin Neurol 35(1):50-56.
- Feuerstein GZ, Wang X, Barone FC. 1998. The role of cytokines in the neuropathology of stroke and neurotrauma. Neuroimmunomodulation 5(3-4):143-159.
- Floyd RA. 1999. Antioxidants, oxidative stress, and degenerative neurological disorders. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 222(3):236-245.
- Flynn JM, Melov S. 2013. SOD2 in mitochondrial dysfunction and neurodegeneration. Free Radic Biol Med 62:4-12.
- Foundation BT. 2007. Guidelines for the management of severe traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma 24 Suppl 1:S1-106.
- Friedman G, Froom P, Sazbon L, Grinblatt I, Shochina M, Tsenter J, Babaey S, Yehuda B, Groswasser Z. 1999. Apolipoprotein E-epsilon4 genotype predicts a poor outcome in survivors of traumatic brain injury. Neurology 52(2):244-248.
- Fukai T, Ushio-Fukai M. 2011. Superoxide dismutases: role in redox signaling, vascular function, and diseases. Antioxidants & redox signaling 15(6):1583-1606.
- Gahm C, Holmin S, Mathiesen T. 2000. Temporal profiles and cellular sources of three nitric oxide synthase isoforms in the brain after experimental contusion. Neurosurgery 46(1):169-177.
- Gahm C, Holmin S, Wiklund PN, Brundin L, Mathiesen T. 2006. Neuroprotection by selective inhibition of inducible nitric oxide synthase after experimental brain contusion. J Neurotrauma 23(9):1343-1354.
- Ghirnikar RS, Lee YL, Eng LF. 1998. Inflammation in traumatic brain injury: role of cytokines and chemokines. Neurochem Res 23(3):329-340.
- Gilgun-Sherki Y, Rosenbaum Z, Melamed E, Offen D. 2002. Antioxidant therapy in acute central nervous system injury: current state. Pharmacol Rev 54(2):271-284.
- Gong X, Celsi G, Carlsson K, Norgren S, Chen M. 2010. N-acetylcysteine amide protects renal proximal tubular epithelial cells against iohexol-induced apoptosis by blocking p38 MAPK and iNOS signaling. Am J Nephrol 31(2):178-188.
- Gordon S, Martinez FO. 2010. Alternative activation of macrophages: mechanism and functions. Immunity 32(5):593-604.
- Grinberg L, Fibach E, Amer J, Atlas D. 2005. N-acetylcysteine amide, a novel cell-permeating thiol, restores cellular glutathione and protects human red blood cells from oxidative stress. Free Radic Biol Med 38(1):136-145.

- Griscavage JM, Rogers NE, Sherman MP, Ignarro LJ. 1993. Inducible Nitric-Oxide Synthase from a Rat Alveolar Macrophage Cell-Line Is Inhibited by Nitric-Oxide. Journal of Immunology 151(11):6329-6337.
- Groswasser Z, Cohen M, Keren O. 1998. Female TBI patients recover better than males. Brain Inj 12(9):805-808.
- Hall ED, Detloff MR, Johnson K, Kupina NC. 2004. Peroxynitrite-mediated protein nitration and lipid peroxidation in a mouse model of traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma 21(1):9-20.
- Hanafy KA, Selim MH. 2012. Antioxidant strategies in neurocritical care. Neurotherapeutics 9(1):44-55.
- Hang CH, Chen G, Shi JX, Zhang X, Li JS. 2006. Cortical expression of nuclear factor kappaB after human brain contusion. Brain Res 1109(1):14-21.
- Harders A, Kakarieka A, Braakman R. 1996. Traumatic subarachnoid hemorrhage and its treatment with nimodipine. German tSAH Study Group. J Neurosurg 85(1):82-89.
- Hicdonmez T, Kanter M, Tiryaki M, Parsak T, Cobanoglu S. 2006. Neuroprotective effects of Nacetylcysteine on experimental closed head trauma in rats. Neurochem Res 31(4):473-481.
- Hlatky R, Lui H, Cherian L, Goodman JC, O'Brien WE, Contant CF, Robertson CS. 2003. The role of endothelial nitric oxide synthase in the cerebral hemodynamics after controlled cortical impact injury in mice. J Neurotrauma 20(10):995-1006.
- Holmin S, Mathiesen T. 1996. Dexamethasone and colchicine reduce inflammation and delayed oedema following experimental brain contusion. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 138(4):418-424.
- Holmin S, von Gertten C, Sandberg-Nordqvist AC, Lendahl U, Mathiesen T. 2001. Induction of astrocytic nestin expression by depolarization in rats. Neurosci Lett 314(3):151-155.
- Hooper DC, Scott GS, Zborek A, Mikheeva T, Kean RB, Koprowski H, Spitsin SV. 2000. Uric acid, a peroxynitrite scavenger, inhibits CNS inflammation, blood-CNS barrier permeability changes, and tissue damage in a mouse model of multiple sclerosis. FASEB J 14(5):691-698.
- Huang dW, Sherman BT, Lempicki RA. 2009. Systematic and integrative analysis of large gene lists using DAVID bioinformatics resources. Nat Protoc 4(1):44-57.
- Injury NCDPoRoPWTB. 1999. Consensus conference. Rehabilitation of persons with traumatic brain injury. JAMA 282(10):974-983.
- Inman D, Guth L, Steward O. 2002. Genetic influences on secondary degeneration and wound healing following spinal cord injury in various strains of mice. J Comp Neurol 451(3):225-235.
- Issels RD, Nagele A, Eckert KG, Wilmanns W. 1988. Promotion of cystine uptake and its utilization for glutathione biosynthesis induced by cysteamine and N-acetylcysteine. Biochem Pharmacol 37(5):881-888.

- Jafarian-Tehrani M, Louin G, Royo NC, Besson VC, Bohme GA, Plotkine M, Marchand-Verrecchia C. 2005. 1400W, a potent selective inducible NOS inhibitor, improves histopathological outcome following traumatic brain injury in rats. Nitric Oxide 12(2):61-69.
- Jones TR, Kang IH, Wheeler DB, Lindquist RA, Papallo A, Sabatini DM, Golland P, Carpenter AE. 2008. CellProfiler Analyst: data exploration and analysis software for complex image-based screens. BMC Bioinformatics 9:482.
- Jordan BD. 2007. Genetic influences on outcome following traumatic brain injury. Neurochem Res 32(4-5):905-915.
- Kadhim HJ, Duchateau J, Sébire G. 2008. Cytokines and brain injury: invited review. J Intensive Care Med 23(4):236-249.
- Kamencic H, Griebel RW, Lyon AW, Paterson PG, Juurlink BH. 2001. Promoting glutathione synthesis after spinal cord trauma decreases secondary damage and promotes retention of function. FASEB J 15(1):243-250.
- Keller JN, Kindy MS, Holtsberg FW, St Clair DK, Yen HC, Germeyer A, Steiner SM, Bruce-Keller AJ, Hutchins JB, Mattson MP. 1998. Mitochondrial manganese superoxide dismutase prevents neural apoptosis and reduces ischemic brain injury: suppression of peroxynitrite production, lipid peroxidation, and mitochondrial dysfunction. J Neurosci 18(2):687-697.
- Knoops B, Goemaere J, Van der Eecken V, Declercq JP. 2011. Peroxiredoxin 5: structure, mechanism, and function of the mammalian atypical 2-Cys peroxiredoxin. Antioxid Redox Signal 15(3):817-829.
- Kontos HA, Wei EP. 1986. Superoxide production in experimental brain injury. J Neurosurg 64(5):803-807.
- Kruman II, Mattson MP. 1999. Pivotal role of mitochondrial calcium uptake in neural cell apoptosis and necrosis. J Neurochem 72(2):529-540.
- Kumaria A, Tolias CM. 2008. In vitro models of neurotrauma. British journal of neurosurgery 22(2):200-206.
- Lambert AJ, Brand MD. 2009. Reactive oxygen species production by mitochondria. Methods Mol Biol 554:165-181.
- Langham J, Goldfrad C, Teasdale G, Shaw D, Rowan K. 2003. Calcium channel blockers for acute traumatic brain injury. Cochrane Database Syst Rev(4):CD000565.
- Lebovitz RM, Zhang H, Vogel H, Cartwright J, Jr., Dionne L, Lu N, Huang S, Matzuk MM. 1996. Neurodegeneration, myocardial injury, and perinatal death in mitochondrial superoxide dismutase-deficient mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93(18):9782-9787.
- Leitgeb J, Mauritz W, Brazinova A, Janciak I, Majdan M, Wilbacher I, Rusnak M. 2011. Effects of gender on outcomes after traumatic brain injury. J Trauma 71(6):1620-1626.
- Lenzlinger PM, Morganti-Kossmann MC, Laurer HL, McIntosh TK. 2001. The duality of the inflammatory response to traumatic brain injury. Mol Neurobiol 24(1-3):169-181.

- Leung G, Moody AR. 2010. MR imaging depicts oxidative stress induced by methemoglobin. Radiology. United States: Rsna, 2010. p 470-476.
- Ley EJ, Short SS, Liou DZ, Singer MB, Mirocha J, Melo N, Bukur M, Salim A. 2013. Gender impacts mortality after traumatic brain injury in teenagers. J Trauma Acute Care Surg 75(4):682-686.
- Li Y, Huang TT, Carlson EJ, Melov S, Ursell PC, Olson JL, Noble LJ, Yoshimura MP, Berger C, Chan PH, Wallace DC, Epstein CJ. 1995. Dilated cardiomyopathy and neonatal lethality in mutant mice lacking manganese superoxide dismutase. Nature genetics 11(4):376-381.
- Lidman O, Swanberg M, Horvath L, Broman KW, Olsson T, Piehl F. 2003. Discrete gene loci regulate neurodegeneration, lymphocyte infiltration, and major histocompatibility complex class II expression in the CNS. J Neurosci 23(30):9817-9823.
- Loane DJ, Byrnes KR. 2010. Role of microglia in neurotrauma. Neurotherapeutics 7(4):366-377.
- Lorentzen JC, Andersson M, Issazadeh S, Dahlman I, Luthman H, Weissert R, Olsson T. 1997. Genetic analysis of inflammation, cytokine mRNA expression and disease course of relapsing experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in DA rats. J Neuroimmunol 80(1-2):31-37.
- Lu J, Goh SJ, Tng PY, Deng YY, Ling EA, Moochhala S. 2009. Systemic inflammatory response following acute traumatic brain injury. Front Biosci 14:3795-3813.
- Lumeng CN, Bodzin JL, Saltiel AR. 2007. Obesity induces a phenotypic switch in adipose tissue macrophage polarization. J Clin Invest 117(1):175-184.
- Lundberg C, Lidman O, Holmdahl R, Olsson T, Piehl F. 2001. Neurodegeneration and glial activation patterns after mechanical nerve injury are differentially regulated by non-MHC genes in congenic inbred rat strains. J Comp Neurol 431(1):75-87.
- Maas AI, Roozenbeek B, Manley GT. 2010. Clinical trials in traumatic brain injury: past experience and current developments. Neurotherapeutics 7(1):115-126.
- MacMicking J, Xie QW, Nathan C. 1997. Nitric oxide and macrophage function. Annual review of immunology 15:323-350.
- Maghool F, Khaksari M, Khachki AS. 2012. Differences in brain edema and intracranial pressure following traumatic brain injury across the estrous cycle: Involvement of female sex steroid hormones. Brain Res 1497:61-72.
- Malecki A, Garrido R, Mattson MP, Hennig B, Toborek M. 2000. 4-Hydroxynonenal induces oxidative stress and death of cultured spinal cord neurons. J Neurochem 74(6):2278-2287.
- Manabe Y, Anrather J, Kawano T, Niwa K, Zhou P, Ross ME, Iadecola C. 2004. Prostanoids, not reactive oxygen species, mediate COX-2-dependent neurotoxicity. Ann Neurol 55(5):668-675.
- Marcondes FK, Bianchi FJ, Tanno AP. 2002. Determination of the estrous cycle phases of rats: some helpful considerations. Braz J Biol 62(4A):609-614.

- Marklund N, Bakshi A, Castelbuono DJ, Conte V, McIntosh TK. 2006. Evaluation of pharmacological treatment strategies in traumatic brain injury. Curr Pharm Des 12(13):1645-1680.
- Marnett LJ, Wright TL, Crews BC, Tannenbaum SR, Morrow JD. 2000. Regulation of prostaglandin biosynthesis by nitric oxide is revealed by targeted deletion of inducible nitric-oxide synthase. J Biol Chem 275(18):13427-13430.
- McAllister TW. 2010. Genetic factors modulating outcome after neurotrauma. PM R 2(12 Suppl 2):S241-252.
- McCullough LD, Hurn PD. 2003. Estrogen and ischemic neuroprotection: an integrated view. Trends Endocrinol Metab 14(5):228-235.
- Meyer K, Helmick K, Doncevic S, Park R. 2008. Severe and penetrating traumatic brain injury in the context of war. J Trauma Nurs 15(4):185-189; quiz 190-181.
- Miljkovic D, Trajkovic V. 2004. Inducible nitric oxide synthase activation by interleukin-17. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 15(1):21-32.
- Minghetti L. 2004. Cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) in inflammatory and degenerative brain diseases. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 63(9):901-910.
- Mirandola L, Wade R, Verma R, Pena C, Hosiriluck N, Figueroa JA, Cobos E, Jenkins MR, Chiriva-Internati M. 2015. Sex-driven differences in immunological responses: challenges and opportunities for the immunotherapies of the third millennium. Int Rev Immunol 34(2):134-142.
- Mocco J, Mack WJ, Ducruet AF, Sosunov SA, Sughrue ME, Hassid BG, Nair MN, Laufer I, Komotar RJ, Claire M, Holland H, Pinsky DJ, Connolly ES, Jr. 2006. Complement component C3 mediates inflammatory injury following focal cerebral ischemia. Circ Res 99(2):209-217.
- Morganti-Kossmann MC, Rancan M, Stahel PF, Kossmann T. 2002. Inflammatory response in acute traumatic brain injury: a double-edged sword. Curr Opin Crit Care 8(2):101-105.
- Morganti-Kossmann MC, Satgunaseelan L, Bye N, Kossmann T. 2007. Modulation of immune response by head injury. Injury 38(12):1392-1400.
- Morrison B, 3rd, Saatman KE, Meaney DF, McIntosh TK. 1998. In vitro central nervous system models of mechanically induced trauma: a review. J Neurotrauma 15(11):911-928.
- Mosser DM, Edwards JP. 2008. Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation. Nat Rev Immunol 8(12):958-969.
- Mémet S. 2006. NF-kappaB functions in the nervous system: from development to disease. Biochem Pharmacol 72(9):1180-1195.
- Nakata K, Kawase M, Ogino S, Kinoshita C, Murata H, Sakaue T, Ogata K, Ohmori S. 1996. Effects of age on levels of cysteine, glutathione and related enzyme activities in livers of mice and rats and an attempt to replenish hepatic glutathione level of mouse with cysteine derivatives. Mech Ageing Dev 90(3):195-207.

- Noack H, Lindenau J, Rothe F, Asayama K, Wolf G. 1998. Differential expression of superoxide dismutase isoforms in neuronal and glial compartments in the course of excitotoxically mediated neurodegeneration: relation to oxidative and nitrergic stress. Glia 23(4):285-297.
- O'Connell KM, Littleton-Kearney MT. 2013. The role of free radicals in traumatic brain injury. Biol Res Nurs 15(3):253-263.
- Offen D, Gilgun-Sherki Y, Barhum Y, Benhar M, Grinberg L, Reich R, Melamed E, Atlas D. 2004. A low molecular weight copper chelator crosses the blood-brain barrier and attenuates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Neurochem 89(5):1241-1251.
- Olofsson P, Holmberg J, Tordsson J, Lu S, Åkerström B, Holmdahl R. 2002. Positional identification of Ncf1 as a gene that regulates arthritis severity in rats. Nature Genetics 33(1):25-32.
- Ottochian M, Salim A, Berry C, Chan LS, Wilson MT, Margulies DR. 2009. Severe traumatic brain injury: is there a gender difference in mortality? Am J Surg 197(2):155-158.
- Pandya JD, Readnower RD, Patel SP, Yonutas HM, Pauly JR, Goldstein GA, Rabchevsky AG, Sullivan PG. 2014. N-acetylcysteine amide confers neuroprotection, improves bioenergetics and behavioral outcome following TBI. Exp Neurol Jul;257:106-13.
- Park EM, Cho S, Frys KA, Glickstein SB, Zhou P, Anrather J, Ross ME, Iadecola C. 2006. Inducible nitric oxide synthase contributes to gender differences in ischemic brain injury. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 26(3):392-401.
- Patel SP, Sullivan PG, Pandya JD, Goldstein GA, Vanrooyen JL, Yonutas HM, Eldahan KC, Morehouse J, Magnuson DS, Rabchevsky AG. 2014. N-acetylcysteine amide preserves mitochondrial bioenergetics and improves functional recovery following spinal trauma. Exp Neurol 2014 Jul;257:95-105.
- Pickering AM, Vojtovich L, Tower J, Davies KJA. 2013. Oxidative Stress Adaptation with Acute, Chronic and Repeated Stress. Free Radic Biol Med 55:109-118.
- Pietta PG. 2000. Flavonoids as antioxidants. J Nat Prod. United States. p 1035-1042.
- Plantman S. 2012. Osteopontin is upregulated after mechanical brain injury and stimulates neurite growth from hippocampal neurons through β1 integrin and CD44. Neuroreport 23(11):647-652.
- Polidori MC, Mecocci P, Frei B. 2001. Plasma vitamin C levels are decreased and correlated with brain damage in patients with intracranial hemorrhage or head trauma. Stroke 32(4):898-902.
- Popovich PG, Wei P, Stokes BT. 1997. Cellular inflammatory response after spinal cord injury in Sprague-Dawley and Lewis rats. J Comp Neurol 377(3):443-464.
- Reid WM, Rolfe A, Register D, Levasseur JE, Churn SB, Sun D. 2010. Strain-related differences after experimental traumatic brain injury in rats. J Neurotrauma 27(7):1243-1253.

- Renner C, Hummelsheim H, Kopczak A, Steube D, Schneider HJ, Schneider M, Kreitschmann-Andermahr I, Jordan M, Uhl E, Stalla GK. 2012. The influence of gender on the injury severity, course and outcome of traumatic brain injury. Brain Inj 26(11):1360-1371.
- Rhee SG, Chae HZ, Kim K. 2005. Peroxiredoxins: a historical overview and speculative preview of novel mechanisms and emerging concepts in cell signaling. Free Radic Biol Med. United States. p 1543-1552.
- Rigoulet M, Yoboue ED, Devin A. 2011. Mitochondrial ROS generation and its regulation: mechanisms involved in H(2)O(2) signaling. Antioxid Redox Signal 14(3):459-468.
- Roof RL, Hall ED. 2000. Gender differences in acute CNS trauma and stroke: neuroprotective effects of estrogen and progesterone. J Neurotrauma 17(5):367-388.
- Rose JW, Hill KE, Watt HE, Carlson NG. 2004. Inflammatory cell expression of cyclooxygenase-2 in the multiple sclerosis lesion. J Neuroimmunol 149(1-2):40-49.
- Saatman KE, Duhaime AC, Bullock R, Maas AI, Valadka A, Manley GT. 2008. Classification of Traumatic Brain Injury for Targeted Therapies. J Neurotrauma. p 719-738.
- Schank JC. 2001. Do Norway rats (Rattus norvegicus) synchronize their estrous cycles? Physiol Behav 72(1-2):129-139.
- Schmued LC, Albertson C, Slikker W, Jr. 1997. Fluoro-Jade: a novel fluorochrome for the sensitive and reliable histochemical localization of neuronal degeneration. Brain Res 751(1):37-46.
- Schneider CA, Rasband WS, Eliceiri KW. 2012. NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis. Nat Methods 9(7):671-675.
- Schouten JW. 2007. Neuroprotection in traumatic brain injury: a complex struggle against the biology of nature. Curr Opin Crit Care 13(2):134-142.
- Sheriff FG, Hinson HE. 2015. Pathophysiology and clinical management of moderate and severe traumatic brain injury in the ICU. Semin Neurol 35(1):42-49.
- Si D, Li J, Liu J, Wang X, Wei Z, Tian Q, Wang H, Liu G. 2014. Progesterone protects bloodbrain barrier function and improves neurological outcome following traumatic brain injury in rats. Exp Ther Med 8(3):1010-1014.
- Sies H, Sharov VS, Klotz LO, Briviba K. 1997. Glutathione peroxidase protects against peroxynitrite-mediated oxidations. A new function for selenoproteins as peroxynitrite reductase. J Biol Chem 272(44):27812-27817.
- Sinz EH, Kochanek PM, Dixon CE, Clark RS, Carcillo JA, Schiding JK, Chen M, Wisniewski SR, Carlos TM, Williams D, DeKosky ST, Watkins SC, Marion DW, Billiar TR. 1999. Inducible nitric oxide synthase is an endogenous neuroprotectant after traumatic brain injury in rats and mice. J Clin Invest 104(5):647-656.
- Sköld M, Cullheim S, Hammarberg H, Piehl F, Suneson A, Lake S, Sjögren A, Walum E, Risling M. 2000. Induction of VEGF and VEGF receptors in the spinal cord after mechanical spinal injury and prostaglandin administration. Eur J Neurosci 12(10):3675-3686.

- Smith WL, Dewitt DL. 1996. Prostaglandin endoperoxide H synthases-1 and -2. Adv Immunol 62:167-215.
- Sonden A, Johansson AS, Palmblad J, Kjellstrom BT. 2006. Proinflammatory reaction and cytoskeletal alterations in endothelial cells after shock wave exposure. J Investig Med 54(5):262-271.
- Ste-Marie L, Hazell AS, Bemeur C, Butterworth R, Montgomery J. 2001. Immunohistochemical detection of inducible nitric oxide synthase, nitrotyrosine and manganese superoxide dismutase following hyperglycemic focal cerebral ischemia. Brain Res 918(1-2):10-19.
- Steward O, Schauwecker PE, Guth L, Zhang Z, Fujiki M, Inman D, Wrathall J, Kempermann G, Gage FH, Saatman KE, Raghupathi R, McIntosh T. 1999. Genetic approaches to neurotrauma research: opportunities and potential pitfalls of murine models. Exp Neurol 157(1):19-42.
- Stuehr DJ, Marletta MA. 1987. Synthesis of Nitrite and Nitrate in Murine Macrophage Cell-Lines. Cancer Research 47(21):5590-5594.
- Sullivan PG, Keller JN, Bussen WL, Scheff SW. 2002. Cytochrome c release and caspase activation after traumatic brain injury. Brain Res 949(1-2):88-96.
- Sunitha K, Hemshekhar M, Thushara RM, Santhosh MS, Yariswamy M, Kemparaju K, Girish KS. 2013. N-Acetylcysteine amide: a derivative to fulfill the promises of N-Acetylcysteine. Free Radic Res 47(5):357-367.
- Szabo C, Ischiropoulos H, Radi R. 2007. Peroxynitrite: biochemistry, pathophysiology and development of therapeutics. Nat Rev Drug Discov 6(8):662-680.
- Tamm C, Zhivotovsky B, Ceccatelli S. 2008. Caspase-2 activation in neural stem cells undergoing oxidative stress-induced apoptosis. Apoptosis 13(3):354-363.
- Teasdale GM, Nicoll JA, Murray G, Fiddes M. 1997. Association of apolipoprotein E polymorphism with outcome after head injury. Lancet 350(9084):1069-1071.
- Ten VS, Yao J, Ratner V, Sosunov S, Fraser DA, Botto M, Sivasankar B, Morgan BP, Silverstein S, Stark R, Polin R, Vannucci SJ, Pinsky D, Starkov AA. 2010. Complement component c1q mediates mitochondria-driven oxidative stress in neonatal hypoxic-ischemic brain injury. J Neurosci 30(6):2077-2087.
- Trackey JL, Uliasz TF, Hewett SJ. 2001. SIN-1-induced cytotoxicity in mixed cortical cell culture: peroxynitrite-dependent and -independent induction of excitotoxic cell death. J Neurochem 79(2):445-455.
- Tsikas D. 2007. Analysis of nitrite and nitrate in biological fluids by assays based on the Griess reaction: appraisal of the Griess reaction in the L-arginine/nitric oxide area of research. Journal of chromatography B, Analytical technologies in the biomedical and life sciences 851(1-2):51-70.
- Vergouwen MD, Vermeulen M, Roos YB. 2006. Effect of nimodipine on outcome in patients with traumatic subarachnoid haemorrhage: a systematic review. Lancet Neurol. England. p 1029-1032.

- von Baumgarten L, Trabold R, Thal S, Back T, Plesnila N. 2008. Role of cortical spreading depressions for secondary brain damage after traumatic brain injury in mice. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 28(7):1353-1360.
- Wada K, Chatzipanteli K, Busto R, Dietrich WD. 1998. Role of nitric oxide in traumatic brain injury in the rat. J Neurosurg 89(5):807-818.
- Weissert R, Wallstrom E, Storch MK, Stefferl A, Lorentzen J, Lassmann H, Linington C, Olsson T. 1998. MHC haplotype-dependent regulation of MOG-induced EAE in rats. J Clin Invest 102(6):1265-1273.
- Westwood FR. 2008. The female rat reproductive cycle: a practical histological guide to staging. Toxicol Pathol 36(3):375-384.
- Wilson DB. 1965. Quantitative Studies on the Behavior of Sensitized Lymphocytes in Vitro : I. Relationship of the Degree of Destruction of Homologous Target Cells to the Number of Lymphocytes and to the Time of Contact in Culture and Consideration of the Effects of Isoimmune Serum. J Exp Med 122(1):143-166.
- Woodcock T, Morganti-Kossmann MC. 2013. The role of markers of inflammation in traumatic brain injury. Front Neurol 4:18.
- Wright DW, Yeatts SD, Silbergleit R, Palesch YY, Hertzberg VS, Frankel M, Goldstein FC, Caveney AF, Howlett-Smith H, Bengelink EM, Manley GT, Merck LH, Janis LS, Barsan WG. 2014. Very early administration of progesterone for acute traumatic brain injury. N Engl J Med 371(26):2457-2466.